UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO PAMPA PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM BIOQUÍMICA

EFEITOS DO HIDROLISADO DA CLARA DE OVO SOBRE AS ARTÉRIAS MESENTÉRICAS DE RATOS EXPOSTO CRONICAMENTE AO CLORETO DE MERCURIO (HgCl₂)

DISSERTAÇÃO DE MESTRADO

ALYNE GOULART ESCOBAR

Uruguaiana

2019

ALYNE GOULART ESCOBAR

EFEITOS DO HIDROLISADO DA CLARA DO OVO SOBRE AS ARTÉRIAS MESENTÉRICAS DE RATOS EXPOSTOS CRONICAMENTE AO CLORETO DE MERCÚRIO (HgCl₂)

Dissertação apresentada ao programa de Pós-graduação *Stricto Sensu* em Bioquímica da Universidade Federal do Pampa, como requisito parcial para obtenção do Título de Mestre em Bioquímica.

Orientadora: Giulia A. Wiggers Peçanha

Co-orientador: Danize A. Rizzetti

Uruguaiana

2019

ALYNE GOULART ESCOBAR

EFEITOS DO HIDROLISADO DA CLARA DO OVO SOBRE AS ARTÉRIAS MESENTÉRICAS DE RATOS EXPOSTOS CRONICAMENTE AO CLORETO DE MERCÚRIO (HgCl₂)

Dissertação apresentada ao programa de Pósgraduação *Stricto Sensu* em Bioquímica da Universidade Federal do Pampa, como requisito parcial para obtenção do Título de Mestre em Bioquímica.

Área de concentração: Bioprospecção Molecular

Dissertação defendida e aprovada em 07 de março de 2019.

Banca examinadora:

ecante

Prof^a. Dr^a. Giulia Alessandra Wiggers Peçanha Presidente / Orientadora (Universidade Federal do Pampa / UNIPAMPA)

Elio

Prof. Dr. Fabiano Elias Xavier (Universidade Federal de Pernanbuco / UFPE)

Prof. Dr. Robson Luiz Puntel (Universidade Federal do Pampa / UNIPAMPA)

DEDICO

Á toda minha família principalmente ao meu esposo Henrique e aos meus pais Simone e Marcio, vocês me ensinaram ainda mais o significado de compreensão e incentivo nesse período.

AGRADECIMENTOS

A gratidão é o sentimento mais puro e doce que existe, nessa trajetória aprendi muito a ser grata às pessoas, às oportunidades e as conquistas.. Sozinha eu jamais iria conseguir chegar até aqui.

À Deus, meu esterno amor e fidelidade, por sempre estar ao meu lado, ser meu melhor abrigo na hora da angústia, por ser luz em minha vida, guiando meus dias, minhas ações e me abençoadando a todo instante.

Ao meu esposo Henrique, que me conheceu bem antes de tudo isso que me tornei, meu melhor companheiro, que apoia e compra minhas idéias sem exitar, me ajudou e colaborou muito para que esse período fosse o mais leve e divertido possível, obrigada pelos dias na Unipampa e pelas noites de estudo em claro, é um prazer inestimável dividir a vida e os sorrisos com você.

Aos meus pais Simone e Marcio, que com imenso amor e dedicação me ensinaram a importância da eduação e o quão forte eu deveria ser para alcançar meus obejtivos, graças a vocês hoje cheguei onde estou, tudo isso porque antes de eu ter começado a sonhar vocês já sonhavam por mim.

Aos meus queridos e pequenos irmãos Isaque, Isadora, Arthur, a mana ama vocês e para servir de motivação eu sigo em frente para que no futuro sirva de espelho, que vocês possam trilhar caminhos ainda melhores que os meus e nunca desistam de ser alguém através de seus próprio conhecimento.

À toda minha família Goulart Escobar, agradeço pela compreensão e estímulo nos bons e maus momentos, obrigada por tudo, sempre estiveram ao meu lado me apoiando com cada palavra de carinho e afeto, especialmente agradeço aos meus avós Nerci e Ademir pelo amor incondicional e insaciável fonte de ternura.

À minha segunda família Soares, obrigada pela compreensão e apoio nessa trajetória, vocês sempre entenderam minhas ausências, apoiram meus sonhos e sempre torcem pelo meu sucesso.

À minha orientadora Prof^a. Dr^a. Giulia Wiggers, à ti todo o meu agradecimento, sem seu estímulo e compreensão nesse momento não teria chegado até aqui. Você compreendeu meus medos e aflições, me apoiou no momento certo e puxou minha orelha no momento exato também, desde 2011 me ensinou muita coisa sobre pesquisa, fez com que a cada ciclo eu me apaixonasse ainda mais por esse mundo, sou eternamente grata a você por ter feito uma guria de 17 anos ter ser tornado uma pessoa cheia de responsabilidades, isso fez toda a difeença na minha formação pessoal e profissional, obrigada por isso tudo minha querida ori, vou levar todos esses bons ensinamentos para minha vida.

À minha co-orientadora Prof^a. Dr^a. Danize Rizzetti, obrigada por todo apoio, suporte e paciência, para mim é um prazer estar ao teu lado na vida acadêmica, uma pessoa tão inteligente e determinada como és, tu me transmitiu muita paz e segurança nessa jornada, obrigada pelo conhecimento transmitido e principalmente pela amizade nesses anos.

Ao meu GPFisCar, obrigada pelo apoio e colaboração primeiramente ao mestre Prof. Dr. Franck, obrigada pelas trocas científicas e conhecimento repassado, tu és inspirador. Ao pessoal, colegas de bancadas Janiana, Jose, Paola, Grazy, Tati, Marina e os demais no qual passamos a maioria do tempo, dividindo as alegrias e tristeza o meu muito obrigada, em especial a Janaina incansavél companheira de experimentos, dona de um gigante coração que nunca mediu esforços para estar dividindo esses momentos comigo, compartilhando idéias e sonho, obrigada pela paciência e perseverança nessa etapa, você é luz você traz luz.

Ao grande e inspirador chefe Prof. Dr. Dalton, por todo o conhecimento compartilhado e vivenciado, obrigada por ser fonte inesgótavel de sabedoria sem jamais perder essa maravilhosa simplicidade.

À pesquisadora Marta Miguel e sua equipe do CSIC, por acreditarem em nosso trabalho, investirem e ajudarem na elaboração de nossos experimento. Obrigada por nunca medirem esforços para nos auxiliar durante todo o tempo.

Aos meus professores do PPGBioquímica, obrigada pelo incentivo e atenção, apendi muito em cada aula, seminário e projetos o conhecimento adquirido eu jamais vou perder e vocês sempre serão grande fonte de inspiração.

Aos meus amigos de fé, a galera da procrastinação que me acompanharam nessa jornada sempre com aquela piadianha necessária, Juliana, Janaina, Danize, Patricia e Matheus, vocês sem dúvidas deixaram os momentos mais leves e engraçados.

Aos demais colegas de Unipampa e de Pós Graduação que me ajudaram emprestando seus labs e/ou equipamentos para que eu pudesse realizar meus experimentos, Laboratório de Fisiologia Humana, Laboratório de Toxicologia e Farmacologia em C. elegans e Laboratório de Virologia, prof^a Pamela, prof^a Daiana e prof. Mario, muito obrigada.

À minha banca examinadora, obrigada Prof. Dr. Fabiano e Prof. Dr. Robson por aceitarem avaliar minha dissertação de mestrado.

Ao CNPq (Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico) e FAPERGS (Fundação de Apoio a Pesquisa do RS) pelo apoio financeiro.

A única forma de chegar ao impossível é acreditar que é possível.

Alice no País das Maravilhas

RESUMO

Dissertação de Mestrado Programa de Pós-Graduação em Bioquímica Universidade Federal do Pampa

EFEITOS DO HIDROLISADO DA CLARA DO OVO SOBRE AS ARTÉRIAS MESENTÉRICAS DE RATOS EXPOSTOS CRONICAMENTE AO CLORETO DE MERCÚRIO (HgCl₂)

Autora: Alyne Goulart Escobar Orientadora: Prof^a. Dr^a. Giulia Alessandra Wiggers Peçanha Co-orientadora: Prof^a. Dr^a. Danize Aparecida Rizzetti

Local e Data da defesa: 07 de março de 2019, Uruguaiana - RS

O hidrolisado de clara de ovo (HCO) possui propriedades antioxidantes, antiinflamatórias e vasodilatadoras e pode ser uma alternativa eficiente para a prevenção ou tratamento de intoxicações por metais pesados. O objetivo foi investigar os potenciais efeitos benéficos da ingestão de HCO em distúrbios de reatividade vascular induzida por exposição crônica a baixas concentrações de Hg em artérias mesentérica de resistência (MRA), bem como esclarecer as possíveis vias envolvidas em seus efeitos. Ratos Wistar machos foram divididos em quatro grupos, tratados por 60 dias com: a) injeções intramusculares (i.m.) de solução salina a 0,9% e água por gavagem (Grupo Untreated); b) i.m. injecções de cloreto de mercúrio - HgCl₂, a primeira dose 4,6 μ g / kg e doses subsequentes de 0,07 μ g / kg / dia, para cobrir a perda diária, utilizando o modelo anteriormente descrito (Rizzetti et al., 2017a) e água por gavagem (Grupo HgCl₂); c) i.m. injeções de solução salina 0,9% e HCO (obtido por hidrólise por pepsina por 8 horas) diluído em água (1 g / kg / dia), por gavagem, segundo modelo previamente relatado (Rizzetti et al., 2016a) (Grupo HCO); d) ambos os tratamentos (HCO + HgCl₂). A pressão arterial sistólica (PAS) foi avaliada, a função vascular foi estudada na MRA em banho de órgãos isolado. Curvas concentração-resposta para acetilcolina (ACh) e nitroprussiato de sódio (NPS) foram realizadas. Resposta vasoconstritora à noradrenalina (NE) na presença e ausência de endotélio e na presença de um inibidor da enzima óxido nítrico sintase (NOS) (L-NAME), um inibidor não seletivo da ciclooxigenase (COX) (INDO), um co-fator essencial para síntese de NO (BH4), um inibidor da NADPH oxidase (VAS2870) e um mimético da superóxido dismutase (TEMPOL) foram analisados. Medimos a produção in situ de ânion superóxido, liberação de NO, espécies reativas de oxigênio vascular (ROS), peroxidação lipídica, capacidade antioxidante e níveis de NPSH na MRA. O estudo foi aprovado pelo Comitê de Ética em Uso Animal (052014 - Unipampa). Os resultados foram expressos como média \pm SEM, comparados por análise one-way ou two-way ANOVA seguida pelo teste post hoc de Fisher. (P <0,05). O co-tratamento com HCO: a) preveniu o aumento da PAS, a disfunção endotelial e o aumento da resposta vasoconstritora ao NE promovidas pela exposição prolongada a HgCl₂ em MRA; b) restaurou a modulação endotelial mediada por NO; c) inibiu o estresse oxidativo derivado da NAD(P)H oxidase e as vias inflamatórias induzidas pelo metal nesses vasos, normalizando o estado antioxidante. Concluimos que o HCO parece ser capaz de neutralizar os efeitos tóxicos vasculares da exposição a longo prazo ao HgCl₂, o que aponta para possíveis efeitos terapêuticos baseados em alimento funcional contra um contaminante ambiental altamente difundido.

Palavras-Chave: Hidrolisado da Clara do Ovo; Peptideos Bioativos; Mercúrio; Toxicologia; Estresse Oxidativo; Reatividade Vascular.

ABSTRACT

Dissertation of Master's Degree Post-Graduate Program in Biochemistry Federal University of Pampa

EFFECT OF EGG WHITE HYDROLYSATE ON MESENTERIC ARTERIES IN RATS ON THE CHRONIC MERCURY CHLORIDE EXPOSURE (HgCl₂)

Author: Alyne Goulart Escobar Advisor: Prof^a. Dr^a. Giulia Alessandra Wiggers Peçanha Co-advisor: Prof^a. Dr^a. Danize Aparecida Rizzetti

Place and date of defense: March 7, 2019, Uruguaiana – RS.

Egg white hydrolysate (EWH) has antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and vasodilator properties and could be an efficient alternative for prevention or treatment in heavy metal poisoning. The aim was to investigate the potential beneficial effects of EWH intake on vascular reactivity disorders induced by chronic exposure to low concentrations of Hg in mesenteric resistance arteries (MRA) as well as to clarify the possible pathways involved in its effects. Male Wistar rats were divided into four groups, treated for 60 days with: a) intramuscular injections (*i.m.*) of saline solution 0.9% and tap water by gavage (Untreated); b) *i.m.* injections of mercury chloride – HgCl₂, the 1st dose 4.6 μ g/kg, and subsequent doses of 0.07 µg/kg/day, to cover daily loss, using the model previously described (Rizzetti et al., 2017a) and tap water by gavage (HgCl₂); c) *i.m.* injections of saline solution 0.9% and EWH from pepsin for 8 h diluted in tap water (1 g/kg/day), by gavage, according to model prior reported (Rizzetti et al., 2016a) (EWH); d) both treatments (EWH+HgCl₂). Systolic blood pressure (SBP) it was evaluated, vascular function was studied in MRA in isolated organ bath. Concentration-response curves to acetylcholine (ACh) and sodium nitroprusside (NPS) were performed. Vasoconstrictor response to noradrenaline (NE) in presence and absence of endothelium and in presence of a nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor (L-NAME), a nonselective cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor (INDO), a essential cofactor for NO synthesis (BH4), a NADPH oxidase inhibitor (VAS2870) and a superoxide dismutase mimic (TEMPOL) were analyzed. We measured in situ production of superoxide anion, NO release,

vascular reactive oxygen species (ROS), lipid peroxidation, antioxidant capacity and NPSH levels in MRA. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee on Animal Use (052014 – Unipampa). Results were expressed as mean and SEM, compared by one- or two-way ANOVA analysis followed by the Fisher post hoc test. (P<0.05). EWH: a) prevented the increased SBP, the endothelial dysfunction and the increased vasoconstrictor response to NE observed in MRA after prolonged HgCl₂ exposure; b) restored the NO-mediated endothelial modulation; c) inhibited the NAD(P)H oxidase-derived oxidative stress and the inflammatory pathways induced by the metal in these vessels, normalizing the antioxidant status. As a conclusion, the EWH seems to be able to counteract the vascular toxic effects of long-term exposure to HgCl₂, which points to possible therapeutic effects based on functional food against a highly widespread environmental contaminant.

Keywords: Egg White Hydrolyzate; Bioactive Peptides; Mercury; Toxicology; Oxidative stress; Vascular Reactivity.

LISTA DE FIGURAS

PARTE II

Figura 1.	Effects of EWH on vasoconstrictor responses to NE (A) and	
	endothelium-dependent (B) and independent (C) vasodilator in	
	MRA of rats exposed to low concentrations of HgCl2 for 60	
	days	54
Figura 2.	Effects of EWH on endothelial participation and endothelial NO	
	modulation in vasoconstrictor responses to NE in MRA of rats	
	exposed to low concentrations of HgCl2 for 60 days	55
Figura 3.	Effects of EWH on NO cofactor modulation, participation of	
	reactive oxygen species (ROS) from NAD(P)H oxidase and	
	participation of superoxide anion in vasoconstrictor responses to	
	NE in MRA of rats exposed to low concentrations of HgCl2 for	
	60 days	56
Figura 4.	Effects of EWH on local anion superoxide production in MRA of	
	rats exposed to low concentrations of HgCl2 for 60 days	57
Figura 5.	Effects of EWH in the ROS (A), MDA (B), the total antioxidant	
	capacity (C) and NPSH (D) in MRA of rats exposed to low	
	concentrations of HgCl2 for 60 days	58
Figura 6.	Effects of EWH on contribution of COX pathway modulation on	
	vasoconstrictor responses to NE in MRA of rats exposed to low	
	concentrations of HgCl2 for 60 days	
		59

LISTA DE TABELAS

PARTE II Tabela 1. Effect of EWH on sensitivity (pD2) and maximum response (Emax) to NE in mesenteric rings of rats exposed to low doses of HgCl2 for 60 days 51

LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS E SIGLAS

- µg microgramas
- µg/dia microgramas por dia
- $\mu g/g$ microgramas por grama
- µg/kg microgramas por quilograma
- µg/kg/dia microgramas por quilograma por dia
- $\mu M-micromolar$
- ACh acetylcholine
- Ala Alanina
- Arg Arginina
- BAL 2,3-dimercaptopropanol
- BH4 (6R)-5,6,7,8-Tetrahydrobiopterin dihydrochloride
- CAT-Catalase
- COX Ciclooxigenase
- Cys-cisteína
- DAF 4,5-diaminofluorescein
- dAUC difference Area Under the Curve
- DCF Fluorescent Dichlorofluorescein
- DCHF-DA 2', 7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate
- DHE dihydroethidium
- DL50 Dose Letal Mediana
- DMPS sulfonato dimercaptopropanol
- DMSA ácido dimercaptosuccínico
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid
- DPA D-penicilamina (DPA)
- DTNB 5,5'-dithio-bis (2-nitrobenzoic acid)

- ECA enzima Conversora de Angiotensina
- EDTA ácido etilenodiaminotetracético
- EPA Environmental Protection Agency
- EROs Espécies Reativas de Oxigênio
- EtHg Timerosal EUA Estados Unidos da América
- EUA Estados Unidos da América
- EWH Egg White Hydrolysate
- FRAP Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power
- FU-Fluorescence
- Glu Glutamato
- GPx Glutationa peroxidase
- GR Glutationa redutase
- GSH Glutationa reduzida
- HCO Hidrolisado de Clara de Ovo
- Hg-mercúrio
- Hg⁰ mercúrio elementar
- Hg¹⁺ íon mercuroso
- Hg^{2+} íon mercúrio
- HgCl₂ cloreto de mercúrio
- HgS sulfeto de mercúrio
- HO-1 expressão do gene heme oxigenase-1
- Ile Isoleucina
- im intramuscular injections
- ip intraperitoneal injections
- KCl potassium chloride
- KHS Krebs-Henseleit solution

Leu – leucina

- $L\text{-}NAME-N\omega\text{-}Nitro\text{-}L\text{-}arginine methyl ester$
- Lys lisina/lysine
- M-molar
- MDA-malondialdehyde
- MeHg metilmercúrio
- Met-metionina
- mg/kg miligramas por quilograma
- $\min-\min$
- ml milliliter
- MRA mesenteric artery of resistance
- mRNA Messenger Ribonucleic Acid
- NADPH oxidase enzima Nicotinamida Adenina Dinucleotídeo Fosfato oxidase
- NE-Noradrenalina
- NE Noradrenaline
- NF-kB fator nuclear kappa β
- ng/l nanogramas por litro
- nM-nanomolar
- NO-Nitric Oxide
- NPSH Non-proteic Thiol Groups
- NRC National Research Council
- OMS Organização Mundial da Saúde
- PAS Pressão Arterial Sistólica
- PBS phosphate buffered saline
- pH potencial hidrogeniônico
- Phe phenylephrine

Pro – prolina

- RAS Renin-angiotensin System
- Rmax Resposta máxima
- ROS Reactive Oxygen Species
- SBP Systolic Blood Pressure
- SDS sodium dodecil sulphate
- SEM Standard Error of the Mean
- SH grupamentos tióis/ thiol groups
- SHR Ratos Espontaneamente Hipertensos
- SRA Sistema Renina Angiotensina
- SNC Sistema Nervoso Central
- SNP sodium nitroprusside
- SOD Superóxido Dismutase
- TBA thiobarbituric acid
- TBARS Thiobarbituric Acid Reactive Substances
- TCA trichloroacetic acid
- TEMPOL 4-Hydroxy-2,2,6,6-tetramethylpiperidine 1-oxyl
- $TNF-\alpha Tumor$ Necrosis Factor Alpha
- $TPTZ-2,\!4,\!6\text{-}Tripyridyl\text{-}s\text{-}Triazine$
- Trp-triptofano
- Tyr-tirosina
- VAS2870 1,3-Benzoxazol-2-yl-3-benzyl-3H-[1,2,3]triazolo[4,5-d]pyrimidin-7-yl sulfide
- vol-volume
- WHO World Health Organization

SUMÁRIO

PARTE I

INTRODUÇÃO

1 Mercúrio	21	
1.1 Populações de risco e limites de exposição	21	
1.2 Efeitos tóxicos do Hg no organismo		
1.3 Toxicidade do Hg no sistema cardiovascular	25	
1.4 Alternativas terapêuticas contra os danos promovidos pelo Hg	27	
2 Alimentos Funcionais	29	
2.1 Peptídeos bioativos	29	
2.2 Atividades biológicas dos peptídeos bioativos	30	
2.3 Peptídeos bioativos derivados do ovo	31	
2.4 Ação biologico do hidrolisado da clara de ovo	32	
3 Justificativa	34	
4 Objetivos	35	
4.1 Geral	35	
4.2 Específicos	35	
PARTE II		
5 Artigo	36	
Acknowledgments	36	
Abstract	37	
Introduction	37	
Materials and methods	39	
Results	43	
Discussion	46	
References	51	

Table 1	59
Figure legends	60
Figure 1	62
Figure 2	63
Figure 3	64
Figure 4	65
Figure 5	66
Figure 6	67
6 Referências	68

PARTE I

INTRODUÇÃO

1 Mercúrio

1.1 O metal mercúrio

O mercúrio (Hg) é um metal pesado que ocupa o terceiro lugar na lista de substâncias toxicas segundo a Agência para Substâncias Tóxicas e Registro de Doenças (CLARKSON, 2002; ANDRADE et al., 2017) e seu potencial de toxicidade está relacionado com grande risco de contaminação ambiental (BUDNIK & CASTELEYN, 2018).

O Hg disponível no ambiente está dividido em três formas químicas que constituem seu ciclo biogeoquímico, sendo elas, a forma elementar (Hg0), o Hg inorgânico (Hg2+) e suas formas orgânicas, principalmente representadas pelo metilmercúrio (MeHg) (LI *et al.*, 2015). Este metal pode formar compostos orgânicos e inorgânicos, variando sua conformação química e por consequência sua probabilidade de interagir com as barreiras biológicas, o que determina seus niveis de toxidade (KIM *et al.*, 2015).

Quando se combina com elementos como cloro, enxofre ou oxigênio, o Hg forma compostos inorgânicos, também designados como sais de Hg (sais mercurosos e mercúricos). Essa forma pode ser encontrada em certos cremes de clareamento da pele, medicamentos homeopáticos, desinfetantes e pesticidas (CLARKSON, 1997; AZEVEDO, 2003; WHO, 2003; LI et al., 2015). Aproximadamente 80% do Hg elementar inalado e 0,01% do ingerido é absorvido pelo organismo. Para o Hg inorgânico, absorção por via inalatória e gastrointestinal são iguais e em torno de 10%, enquanto que 2-3% do Hg inorgânico é absorvido através da pele. O Hg orgânico, se ingerido ou inalado, é quase completamente (95-100%) absorvido e representa a forma mais tóxica do metal (SOLENKOVA et al., 2014). A eliminação do Hg do organismo ocorre pelos rins, fígado (via bile), mucosa intestinal, glândulas sudoríparas e salivares, pele e leite materno, sendo as vias urinária e fecal as mais importantes (SWIFT, 1997). Embora a maior parte do Hg absorvido seja eliminada em cerca de 60 a 70 dias, traços deste metal podem ser detectados no organismo por meses ou anos, pois se deposita nos tecidos, demonstrando que o contato humano com este metal constitui uma ameaça à saúde.

As fontes de liberação de Hg são as naturais ou as antropogênicas. De forma natural é liberado a partir de depósitos de mercúrio, volatilização do oceano, atividades vulcânicas e outros processos geotérmicos (LIANG *et al.*, 2017). Através das fontes antropogênicas, os

principais eventos são as queimas de combustíveis fósseis, que forma o vapor de mercúrio na atmosfera, a progressiva utilização do Hg para fins industriais, o uso de pesticidas contendo mercúrio na agricultura, são as principais ações humanas que fazer o Hg ser acumulado no solo ou na água (DONG *et al.*, 2018).

Embora praticamente todas as formas de Hg sejam tóxicas a contaminação ambiental e contaminação humanas são variáveis e os limites seguros de exposição devem ser sempre revistos pelas agências responsáveis de saúde pública (REHMAN *et al.*, 2018).

1.2 Populações de Risco e Limites de Exposição

Estamos expostos a diferentes formas de Hg, e a fundição de metais não ferrosos e combustão de combustíveis fósseis são atualmente considerados as principais fontes antropogênicas de emissão de Hg (DI MARZIO *et al.*, 2018). Uma vez introduzido para o meio ambiente, o Hg pode ser transformado em sua forma orgânica altamente tóxica e ser e bioacumulado em organismos vivos pela biomagnificação na cadeia alimentar até atingir o homem que está no topo dela (LEE et al., 2017; KIMAKOVA et al., 2018). Outras formas mais simplificadas como vapor de mercúrio de amálgamas dentárias e a partir de exposições ocupacionais são fontes de contaminação humana relevantes, assim como o consumo de alimentos contaminados (MERGLER *et al.*, 2007).

A população está freqüentemente exposta ao MeHg através do consumo de peixe, especialmente em populações ribeirinhas onde há grande atividade de garimpo (GIBB *et al.*, 2014). Esta forma de Hg apresenta os maiores níveis de toxicidade (LI *et al.*, 2015; DOREA & MARQUES, 2016). A distribuição de metais pesados em peixes depende do tipo de sua alimentação ou a composição da água onde habitam, uma das possíveis razões dos peixes terem um alto teor de Hg é através do alto teor de proteínas funcionais no músculo do peixe, que tem uma alta afinidade com o Hg (BRAZOVA *et al.*, 2012). No entanto outras formas de Hg podem também ser tóxicas ao organismo, uma vez que o Hg orgânico entra no sistema, se liga ao agrupamentos -SH, conseguindo atravessar facilmente as barreiras biologicas, como por exemplo a barreira hematoencéfalica nesses compartimentos pode então ser convertido em Hg inorgânico (CARICCIO *et al.*, 2019).

A dose letal média (DL50) se diferencia de acordo com a forma química do Hg. Em sua forma elementar a DL50 é de 63 mg/kg via intraperitoneal (*ip*) em ratos (OVERJORDET *et al.*, 2014). Na forma inorgânica (HgCl₂) e orgânica (MeHg) estes valores são de 14 a 57

mg/kg e 20 a 60 mg/kg respectivamente (USEPA, 1998; SALGADO *et al.*, 2003). Esta variabilidade também ocorre em relação à meia-vida das formas de Hg no corpo humano, o Hg metálico possui meia-vida de 35 a 90 dias, o Hg inorgânico de 29 a 50 dias, enquanto o Hg orgânico pode apresentar meia-vida de 50 a 70 dias. No entanto, sua capacidade de bioacumular, o tempo de permanência no organismo gerando depositos de Hg que são fonte de auto-contaminação são preocupantes (PAMPHLETT *et al.*, 2018; RITGER *et al.*, 2018).

No Brasil o limite seguro para consumo de pescado foi fixado em 0,5 mg/kg de Hg para peixes não predadores e 1,0 mg/kg para peixes predadores (LEI 685, 1998). De acordo com a OMS, o consumo máximo de Hg por meio da dieta recomendado por semana é de 1,6 μ g/kg para as mulheres em idade fértil e 3,3 μ g/kg para a população em geral (LI et al., 2015). Para as vacinas, as concentrações de timerosal (EtHg) variam de 12,5 a 25 μ g de Hg para cada dose de 0,5 ml de vacina. Porém, segundo a EPA, o ideal seria que não ultrapassasse a concentração de 0,1 μ g/kg/dia. O Ministério do Trabalho e a Associação Brasileira de Normas Técnicas (NBR 10004, 2004) também normatizaram os valores de tolerância do metal para o ambiente de trabalho, fixando o mesmo em até 0,04 mg de Hg/m³.

Para pessoas não expostas ao Hg, a OMS considera seguros a concentração sanguínea média de 5 a 10 μ g/l (WHO, 1990). Já o NRC (National Research Council) identifica 2 μ g/l como a concentração sanguínea média para populações com pouco ou nenhum consumo de peixe nos EUA (National Academy os Sciences, 2000). A EPA considera segura concentração sanguínea de Hg de até 5,8 ng/ml, valor significativamente menor que o estipulado pela OMS (USEPA, 1998).

Muitos são os valores de referencia e estudos relativos a consumo de peixes e vacinas (DOREA., 2017). O consumo de peixe pela população é preocupante porque os metais, principalmente o Hg é capaz de se acumular em animais aquaticos e tem leva muito tempo para se decompor na natureza, logo a população que se alimenta desses pescados tem um forte risco de serem afetados pela toxidade do Hg (DE PAIVA *et al.*, 2017; PESTANA *et al.*, 2019), por outro lado o consumo de peixe demonstra ter vários beneficios nutricionais como por exemplo os ácidos graxos poliinsaturados de cadeia longa ômega-3, -6 e -9 que protege a saúde cardiovascular e cerebral e é encontrados em peixes (ABUAJAH *et al.*, 2015).

Embora muitas sejam as as evidências quanto ao risco de toxicidade para a saúde humana relativo as diversas fontes as quais estamos expostos, os esforços das agências de publicas de saúde são para estabelecer de uma forma mais concreta e segura para os níveis aceitáveis de exposição, em uma situação global de aumento de emissão antropogênica deste metal e com o passar dos anos surgem mais relatos de altas concentrações deste metal no organismo associado à prevalência de doenças (ROY *et al.*, 2017; BUDNIK *et al.*, 2018; MELELEO *et al.*, 2018).

1.3 Efeitos tóxicos do Hg no organismo

Uma vez absorvido pelo organismo o mercúrio é distribuído primariamente para o sistema nervoso central e rins. A eliminação do metal geralmente se dá pela urina e fezes (BRUDKIN *et al.*, 2018). Assim, os níveis máximos recomendados diariamente e seu valor tóxico correspondente também variam de acordo com forma de apresentação deste metal. O fato é que as doses de referência não servem para estimativa de risco, mas somente como guia para a população (MAGOS & CLARKSON, 2006).

Os íons de Hg não existem em um estado iônico livre nos sistemas biológicos, em vez disso eles formam fortes ligações com grupos sulfidrilos livres (grupos tióis) (PEI *et al.*, 2015), presentes em biomoléculas como cisteína, glutationa e / ou albumina (ZALUPS, 2000) assim consegue este metal bioacumula-se no organismo (MILLS *et al.*, 2019).

Todas as formas de Hg são reconhecidas como poderosos oxidantes capazes de gerar rapidamente um fenômeno denominado estresse oxidativo. Embora os tióis conjugados ao Hg pareçam causar menor dano oxidativo nas células do que íons de mercúrio livres, ainda assim são absorvidos nos compartimentos intracelulares, e os íons mercúricos podem dissociar-se e liberar-se nos tecidos.. Durante o processo de troca, os íons de Hg não consilidados podem causar dano oxidativo intracelular significativo (FARINA *et al.*, 2013).

Vários estudos relatam danos resultantes de exposições ao Hg em diferentes tempos de exposição, bem como dose, forma do metal e via de administração. Está bem documentado na literatura danos ao sistema renal (ZALUPS, 2000), hepático (AANSAR *et al.*, 2016), respiratório (SENER *et al.*, 2007), nervoso (MELLO-CARPES *et al.*, 2013), reprodutor (MARTINEZ *et al.*, 2014) e cardiovascular (WIGGERS *et al.*, 2008; PEÇANHA *et al.*, 2010; FURIERI *et al.*, 2011; WIGGERS *et al.*, 2016; RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2017b VASSALLO *et al.*, 2019).

O Hg inorgânico se acumula rapidamente no tecido renal, após a administração de Hg cerca de 50% se deposita nas celulas renais apenas algumas horas após a exposição, vários estudos relataram evidências de lesão renal após exposição aguda e crônica a várias formas de

Hg, associando a exposição ao metal com disfunção e necrose nas celulas renais (AGRAWAL *et al.*, 2014; HA *et al.*, 2017; BRIDGES *et al.*, 2018).

A acumulação de Hg no fígado pode causar hepatotoxicidade, isso se deve pela captação dos íons de Hg pela membrama sinusoidal do hepatócito, sendo assim um mecanismo especificos de transporte ativo na membrana plasmática do hepatócito, através desse mecanismo já foi descrito diferentes graus de nefrotoxicidade induzida po HgCl₂ em ratos *Wistar* machos e fêmeas (BRIDGES & ZALUPS, 2017; HAZELHOFF *et al.*, 2018).

Com relação ao sistema respiratório, a intoxicação aguda ao Hg causa bronquiolite e pneumonite, em longo prazo, acarretaram fibrose pulmonar em humanos. A exposição a baixas concentrações de Hg presente no solo foi relacionada ao câncer de pulmão em Taiwan, porém os mecanismos ainda necessitam ser esclarecidos (HUANG *et al.*, 2018; TELAHIGUE *et al.*, 2018).

Diferentes formas de Hg são capazes de causar disordens neurologicas, por exemplo o metilmercúrio pode ligar-se a grupos tiol e permear facilmente a barreira hematoencefálica, chegando à células glias e neurônios, onde é convertido em mercúrio inorgânico. Além disso, o mercúrio inorgânico inibe a absorção de glutamato, promovendo sua liberação no espaço extracelular e causando efeitos neurotóxicos no sistemas nervoso central (MELLO-CARPES *et al.*, 2013; IWAI-SHIMADA *et al.*, 2016; CARRICIO *et al.*, 2019).

Quanto ao sistema reprodutor já foram descritas alterações morfológicas testiculares, danos à espermatogênese e apoptose de células germinativas foram observadas em ratos expostos ao metal na forma orgânica, a administração do Hg inorgânico altera a performance reprodutiva, tanto em 30 quanto em 60 dias de exposição ao HgCl₂ em baixas concentrações, semelhante ao contato ocupacional humano, houve o desenvolvimento de disfunção reprodutiva em machos associada ao desequilíbrio hormonal e ao aumento do estresse oxidativo (JACKSON et al., 2011; MARTINEZ et al., 2014; SCHREIER et al., 2015).

Grande maioria dos efeitos deletérios ocasionados pelo Hg são gerados a partir de uma situção de estresse oxidativo, os mecanismos pelos quais as espécies de Hg causam este fenômeno ainda não foram totalmente elucidados, porém estudos sugerem que a exposição leva a formação do complexo Cys-S-Hg-S-Cys causando modicações na função celula (ORR *et al.*, 2019)

Sabe-se que o metal pode ativar à peroxidação de lipídeos, aumento do números de especias reativas do oxigênio (EROS) promover o aumento da produção de EROS, a exposição ao Hg também pode ocasionar alterações no sistema de defesa do organismo ao

reduzir os níveis enzimáticos das enzimas superóxido dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glutationa redutase (GR) e glutationa peroxidase (GPx), como também da glutationa (GSH), contribuindo para o estresse oxidativo e como conseqüência gerar o estresse oxidativo (KHAN & WANG, 2018; ORR *et al.*, 2019). Além disso já foi descrito a ação do metal de ativar a cascata de inflamação, já foi demostrado a sua atuação sobre a via da COX, promovendo o aumento dos prostanóides vasoconstritores derivados da COX-2 tanto na exposição aguda quanto crônica ao metal (WIGGERS *et al.*, 2008; PEÇANHA *et al.*, 2011).

Atualmente muito se sabe sobre a ação do Hg no organismo com um todo, no entanto os estudos que abordam especificamente seus efeitos sobre o sistema cardiovascular nós relatam importantes ações desse metal.

1.4 Toxicidade do Hg no sistema cardiovascular

Existe forte associação entre exposição ao mercúrio e doenças cardiovasculares, tais como hipertensão, aterosclerose carotídea, infarto do miocárdio e doença arterial coronariana (SALONEN *et al.*, 2000; HOUSTON *et al.*, 2007; GENCHI et al., 2017; CHOWDHURY *et al.*, 2018).

A exemplo do que ocorre em outros sistemas o estresse oxidativo parece ser um dos principais mecanismos implicados que neste caso contribui para a geração de lipoproteína de baixa densidade oxidada, e subsequentemente aterosclerose (MITRA *et al.* 2011). A geração de produtos finais da glicação avançada e a participação de células inflamatórias também promovem a manutenção da injúria vascular em ratos expostos a Hg (HARJA *et al.*, 2015). O endotélio vascular é outro alvo do metal que tanto em baixas como em altas concentrações promove dano vascular, demonstrando a importância e a necessidade de elucidar os mecanismos pelos quais o metal promove o desenvolvimento de doenças cardiovasculares (VASSALLO *et al.*, 2011; GENCHI et al., 2017; GHIZONI *et al.*, 2017).

A exposição crônica ao mercúrio inorgânico, uma forma dita menos tóxica, produz concentrações sanguíneas compatíveis àquelas encontradas em indivíduos expostos, e também representa um fator de risco cardiovascular. A exposição a este tipo de metal influencia a atividade da ECA, aumenta o estresse oxidativo e promove alterações nos niveis pressoricos (VASSALLO *et al.*, 2019). Estudo em animais experimentais de nosso grupo de pesquisa relatam que exposição crônica, durante 30 dias, a baixas doses de HgCl₂, mimetizando a concentração sanguínea na exposição humana, produziu aumento na reatividade vascular em artérias aorta, mesentéricas, coronárias e basilares sem provocar alterações na pressão arterial

dos ratos evidenciando que as alterações vasculares precedem o aumento da pressão arterial encontrada em exposições mais prolongadas (PEÇANHA *et al.*, 2010; FURIERI *et al.*, 2011; WIGGERS *et al.*, 2008; WIGGERS *et al.*, 2016).

Recentemente desenvolvemos um modelo de exposição crônica a baixas concentrações por 60 dias e foi observado o aumento da pressão arterial a partir da sexta semana de exposição acompanhado de incremento da resposta contratil a fenilefrina e disfunção endotelial (RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2017a). Estes efeitos estão associados e foram observados em outros estudos com diferentes tempos e doses de exposição também evidenciaram aumento do estresse oxidativo sistêmico e do tecido vascular, aumento da peroxidação lipídica do plasma, redução das enzimas antioxidantes superóxido dismutase (SOD) e glutationa peroxidase, aumento da expressão protéica vascular de enzimas pró-oxidantes, como a NADPH oxidase (WIGGERS *et al.*, 2008; PEÇANHA *et al.*, 2010; FURIERI *et al.*, 2011; RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2013), redução da biodisponibilidade de óxido nítrico (NO), disfunção endotelial (ROSSONI *et al.*, 1999; DA CUNHA *et al.*, 2000; WIGGERS *et al.*, 2008a) e aumento na liberação de prostanóides vasoconstritores derivados da COX-2 (PEÇANHA *et al.*, 2010; VASSALO 2019).

Diferentemente ao que ocorre em outros modelos animais de hipertensão, para as disfunções vasculares observadas durante a exposição ao Hg, a ativação da via da COX-2 não parece ser secundária ao estresse oxidativo gerado pela via da NADPH oxidase (AGUADO *et al.*, 2013; RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2013). As alterações observadas em nosso modelo experimental, são importantes para demonstrarmos que, mesmo em concentrações próximas aos limites considerados seguros pelas organizações de saúde e de meio ambiente, a exposição prolongada ao Hg constitui um sério problema de saúde pública, e alternativas visando sua remoção do ambiente e a prevenção de seus danos aos sistemas devem ser continuamente estudadas.

Nesse modelo o Hg promoveu importantes alterações nos parâmetros cardiovasculares, os níveis pressóricos aumentados nos remetem uma série de novas perguntas, ainda não esclarecidas como por exemplo a participação as artérias resistência no aumento de pressão promovido por este modelo. Sabemos que essas artérias são determinantes na regulação daresistência vascular periférica, e por conseguinte na manutenção da pressão arterial. A resistência vascular varia inversamente ao raio do vaso a quarta potência (Lei de Poiseuille), dessa maneira, pequenas alterações do diâmetro luminar

podem influenciar grandemente na resistência vascular periférica (GUYTON & HALL, 2016).

No cenário atual podemos observar diferentes formas de exposição ao Hg que podem desempregar vários efeitos maleficos em todo organismo, com isso se faz cada vez mais necesário o estudo de recursos terapêuticos que possam neutralizar as ações desse metal, como compostos sinteticos e naurais como por exemplo os alimentos funcionais.

1.5 Alternativas terapêuticas contra os danos promovidos pelo Hg

A terapia quelante é uma das principais alternativas e constitui o tratamento central de várias intoxicações por metais como o Hg devido à exposição ambiental, alimentar ou ocupacional. Há vários relatos evidenciando de maneira clara a eficáz o seu uso para intoxicações agudas e crônicas a metais pesados, principalmente o Hg, e os efeitos colaterais dos diferentes agentes quelantes em seres humanos (GUHA MAZUMDER *et al.*, 2001; ANDERSEN *et al.*, 2016).

Antigamente as intoxicações por Hg eram tratadas com os quelantes como 2,3dimercaptopropanol (BAL) e d-penicilamina (DPA), no entanto, o BAL passou a ser considerado contraindicada no processo de desintoxicação devido ao aumento da deposição cerebral de Hg inorgânico e orgânico observada (COHEN *et al.*, 2013; BJORKLUND *et al.*, 2017). Atualmente esses agentes são considerados ultrapassados, pois suas contra-indicações podem superar seus benefícios (AASERT *et al.*, 2015). Utiliza-se o dimercaptosuccínico (DMSA) que age como um antídoto eficiente na intoxicação aguda por Hg e seu análogo o sulfonato dimercaptopropanol (DMPS) facilita a excreção de Hg na urina, reduzindo a quantidade de Hg na massa corpórea (AASERT *et al.*, 2015), no entanto ainda há relatos de casos clínicos de toxicidade após seu uso (ANDERSEN & AASETH, 2016).

Em estudo prévio demonstramos que o co-tratamento de ratos expostos ao mercúrio com apocinina, um inibidor da NADPH oxidase, preveniu parcialmente o aumento de reatividade vascular induzido em aorta, normalizou a disfunção endotelial e preveniu o estresse oxidativo resultando em melhora na biodisponibilidade do NO (RIZZETTI et al., 2013). Este estudo foi importante para evidenciar que compostos antioxidantes sintéticos são eficazes para melhorar a disfunção vascular induzida pelo metal.

Sabendo a dificuldade de inserção de compostos antioxidante para a adesão ao tratamento humano alguns estudos também relataram produtos alimentares como potentes quelantes de metais pesados, e associaram seu consumo com a redução da concentração de Hg

no cérebro e sangue (WANG *et al.*, 2018). Compostos naturais, especialmente alimentos de origem protéica podem reduzir a absorção ou a reabsorção de metais tóxicos e apoiar vias de desintoxicação naturais, a sua eficiência como um composto quelante deve-se a presença de enxofre na composição química das proteínas, que possui grande afinidade por metais pesados aumentando e melhorando sua excreção (SEARS 2013).

O consumo de antioxidantes presentes em determinados alimentos como derivados de frutas, vegetais e proteinas já foram descritos com potente ação contra os efeitos tóxicos causados pela exposição a metais, uma vez que protege a célula de danos no DNA e muda o seu estado redox (ABARIKWU *et al.*, 2016). Levando em consideração os elevados custos para os sistemas de saúde para o tratamento das diversas doenças induzidas pela exposição crônica ao Hg, outros compostos naturais provenientes da dieta de ação específica sobre sua toxicidade devem ser investigados e inseridos como estratégia terapêutica nessas condições (SOLENKOVA *et al.*, 2014). Com isso, a OMS recomenda que os nutrientes que alterem a toxicidade induzida pelos contaminantes ambientais, tais como Hg, sejam melhores investigados e elucidados para serem utilizados como possíveis tratamentos ou complementarem alternativas terapêuticas existentes (OMS, 1990).

Neste contexto, o consumo de alimentos funcionais representam uma boa estratégia para prevenção e tratamento de inúmeros distúrbios de saúde, e os estudos acerca do tema vem ganhando espaço e importância na comunidade científica, principalmente por serem uma alternativa baixo custo e segura, praticamente isenta de efeitos adversos (BOONLA *et al.*, 2015; GARCÉS-RAMÓN *et al.*, 2016).

2 Alimentos Funcionais

Nos últimos anos, devido ao elevado número de doenças relacionadas a um estilo de vida inadequado, preocupações e busca por alternativas saudáveis de alimentação tornaram-se crescentes. Nesse sentido, o consumo de alimentos naturais representa uma boa estratégia para prevenção e tratamento de inúmeros distúrbios de saúde, e os estudos acerca do tema vem ganhando espaço e importância na comunidade científica, principalmente por serem uma alternativa baixo custo e segura, praticamente isenta de efeitos adversos (BOONLA et al., 2015; GARCÉS-RAMÓN *et al.*, 2016).

2.1 Peptídeos bioativos

Os péptidos bioativos são definidos como moléculas inativas na proteína de origem, sua ação e função biológica é facilitada a partir de uma hidrolise *in vitro* ou *in vivo*. Fragmentos específicos de proteínas de origem animal como ovo e leite exercem um impacto positivo nas funções ou condições corpóreas, como melhora nos parametros lipidicos, normalização dos níveis pressóricos, entre outros, podendo influenciar positivamente o estado de saúde. Atualmente, sabe-se que os peptídeos bioativos são seqüências específicas de aminoácidos com atividade similar a um fármaco ou hormônio, que eventualmente modulam a função fisiológica ao se ligarem a receptores específicos da célula alvo (LIAO *et al.*, 2018).

Além de suas propiedades nutricionais, algunas proteínas alimentares podem exercer também atividade biológia mediante a liberação dos peptideos bioativos durante o processo de digestão, atraves da hidrolise de enzimas do trato grastro intestinal (MAJUMDER *et al.*, 2013). Estes peptídeos separam-se de sua proteína precursora pelo processo de hidrólise enzimática parcial ou total. Além da atividade enzimática as condições de pH, temperatura e tempo de hidrólise modificam o resultado e propriedades do produto final (ECKERT *et al.*, 2013).

Muitos estudos investigam as seqüências de peptídeos específicos isoladas que são liberados após o processo de hidrólise (MIGUEL *et al.*, 2004). No entanto, recentemente está sendo verificado que a administração de hidrolisados completos poderia ter maior relevância em nível fisiológico do que a administração de um único peptídeo isolado, bem como um efeito biológico muito mais complexo, além de serem considerados produtos mais interessantes e elaborados para o desenvolvimento de alimentos funcionais do ponto de vista de custo beneficio, organoléptico e nutricional (LIU *et al.*, 2014). Dentre os componentes biologicamente ativos de alimentos funcionais incluem-se os compostos fitoquímicos derivados de plantas, verduras, legumes, frutas e cereais, os ácidos graxos poliinsaturados de cadeia longa ômega-3, -6 e -9 encontrados em peixes, os compostos probióticos de produtos lácteos fermentados e os peptídeos bioativos encontrados em proteínas de origem vegetal e animal (ABUAJAH *et al.*, 2015; SRIVIDYA *et al.*, 2017).

2.2 Atividades biológicas dos peptídeos bioativos

Desde seu descobrimiento por volta de 1979, esses peptídeos tem se destacado por suas diversas atividades biológicas como atividade antioxidante, antihipertensiva,

31

inmunomoduladora, antimicrobiana, antinflamatória, opioide, etc (MOUGHAN *et al.*, 2014). Uma vez liberado de sua proteína precursora, os peptídeos bioativos podem exercer diferentes atividades biológicas no organismo, as quais estão relacionadas à composição e seqüência de aminoácidos, assim como o tamanho dos peptídeos (RAO *et al.*, 2012).

Com relação às propriedades antioxidantes, vários estudos demonstraram a presença acentuada dessa atividade biológica em hidrolisados ou peptídeos bioativos derivados de fontes protéicas vegetais ou animais como amendoim (WANG et al., 2014), farelo de arroz (REVILLA et al., 2008), folha de alfafa (XIE et al., 2008), milho (LI et al., 2008), pele de rã (QIAN et al., 2008), ovo (MIGUEL et al., 2004), leite (LIU et al., 2005), caseína (MIGUEL et al., 2010) e animais marinhos (FENG et al., 2015). O exato mecanismo por meio do qual os peptídeos bioativos promovem atividade antioxidante ainda não foi completamente compreendido, porém vários estudos têm demonstrado que esses compostos podem ser inibidores da peroxidação lipídica (MOURE et al., 2006; QIAN et al., 2008; SARMANDI & ISMAIL, 2010), scavenger de radicais livres (RAJAPAKSE et al., 2005; MOURE et al., 2006) e quelantes de íons metálicos (RAJAPAKSE et al., 2005; WANG et al., 2014). Além disso, tem sido relatado que os peptídeos antioxidantes protegem as células de danos causados por EROS através da capacidade de indução de genes específicos. Foi demonstrado que o dipeptídeo Met-Tyr derivado de proteína muscular da sardinha previne o estresse oxidativo por estimular a expressão do gene heme oxigenase-1 (HO-1) e da ferritina em células endoteliais (ERDANN et al., 2006). Outros estudos também mostraram que alguns hidrolisados protéicos vegetais são capazes de aumentar a atividade das enzimas antioxidantes glutationa peroxidase (GPx) e superóxido dismutase (SOD) in vivo (FU, 2003).

Nos últimos anos, esses componentes alimentares com atividade biológica foram utilizados para desenvolver novos alimentos chamados alimentos funcionais. Estes são definidos como alimentos que, além de suas propriedades nutricionais, elas podem exercer uma atividade biológica benéfica no organismo depois de ingerido. Nesse sentido, até hoje foram extraídos e obtidos um grande número de componentes ou ingredientes funcionais de alimentos de origem animal e vegetal, que demonstraram exercer atividade na melhora da síndrome metabólica ou em alguns dos suas complicações (BROWN *et al.*, 2015). Um exemplo desses compostos são os flavonóides, componentes bioativos dos alimentos de origem vegetal.

Os alimentos funcionais foram propostos como uma alternativa relacionada com a modificação dos hábitos alimentares, que consistiria em incluir na dieta de pacientes componentes de alimentos com atividade biológica que contribuir com melhorias substâncias nas alterações funcionais e/ou metabólicas para desenvolver em pacientes obesos ou com síndrome metabólica, e assim limitar e/ou evitar a implantação da utilização de várias alternativas medicamentosas nestes sujeitos (MIGUEL & ALEIXANDRE, 2006; ANDERSEN & FERNANDEZ, 2013; BROWN *et al.*, 2015; ROCHLAIN *et al.*, 2017). Adicionalmente, estes componentes de origem alimentar possuem a vantagem de não causar efeitos adversos ou dependência (LIU *et al.*, 2010).

2.3 Peptídeos bioativos derivados do ovo

O ovo de galinha é hoje um dos alimentos mais consumidos, devido ao seu fácil acesso, baixo preço, alta versatilidade nas aplicações culinárias e também porque supõe uma fonte muito equilibrada de nutrientes de grande qualidade e alta biodisponibilidade (Instituto de Estudos do Ovo, 2009; CAMPOS ZANI *et al.*, 2018; LIAO et al., 2018). Recentemente, o ovo tornou-se um alimento muito interessante para a obtenção de peptídeos bioativos (MAJUMDER *et al.*, 2015; NIMALARATNE *et al.* 2015; SUN *et al.*, 2016; LIU *et al.*, 2017).

Do isolamento e identificação do primeiro peptídeo bioativo derivado de clara de ovo (FUJITA *et al.*, 1995), pesquisa e desenvolvimento de peptídeos bioativos em torno desta fonte a proteína teve um crescimento exponencial. É especificamente de ano de 2010, quando estudos e pesquisas sobre a produção de peptídeos dos derivados bioativos de ovos começam a ser mais relevantes. Nesse sentido, existem hidrolisados obtidos e peptídeos bioativos de todas as estruturas do ovos que incluem proteínas em sua composição, como clara de ovo (albumina), gema e a membrana interna da casca (membrana do testacea) (JAIN & ANAL, 2017).

As proteínas do ovo, que estão principalmente presentes na clara, são consideradas de alto valor biológico e importantes fontes de nitrogênio na dieta. Este alimento também desempenha um papel fundamental na nutrição humana. Entretanto, apesar de o ovo ser uma fonte muito valiosa de proteínas para a alimentação humana, devido a sua variedade e capacidade funcional, poucos peptídeos bioativos são descritos como provenientes de suas proteínas. Os hidrolisados de ovo mais abundantes são aqueles que vêm da clara do ovo, provavelmente devido à facilidade de obter esta parte do ovo e também devido ao alto teor de proteína que possui (MIGUEL e ALEIXENDRE, 2006; GARCÉS-RIMÓN *et al.*, 2016; JOVANOVIC *et al.*, 2016).

2.4 Ação biologica do hidrolisado da clara de ovo (HCO)

A clara do ovo branco representa cerca de 58% do peso total do ovo de galinha e é quase exclusivamente composto por água (88-90%) e proteínas (10-12%). A riqueza e o equilíbrio nos aminoácidos essenciais da proteína da clara do ovo fazem dela um alimento de valor biológico muito alto e é usado como uma proteína de referência para avaliar a qualidade de outras proteínas alimentares (Instituto de Estudos do Ovo, 2009, YU *et al.*, 2011, GARCÉS-RIMÓN *et al.*, 2016, LIAO *et al.*,2018). Além disso, graças à sua alta capacidade de saciedade, é uma fonte de proteína de grande interesse na produção de dietas hipocalóricas para pacientes com excesso de peso (DU *et al.*, 2017).

As proteínas derivadas da clara de ovo, principalmente a ovoalbumina, demonstraram possuir ação antioxidante e funções benéficas para a saúde humana (SUN *et al.*, 2016). Previamente, estudo desenvolvido por Miguel *et al.* (2004), mostrou que a hidrólise de proteínas de clara de ovo com diferentes enzimas digestivas como pepsina por 3 horas geram hidrolisados com capacidades biológicas anti-hipertensivas e antioxidantes *in vitro*. Deste HCO foram isolados e identificados vários peptídeos que mostraram atividade sobre a inibição da ECA (MIGUEL *et al.*, 2004) e/ou uma potente atividade antioxidante (DÁVALOS *et al.*, 2004). É importante notar que vários fatores podem condicionar a atividade desses peptideos quando administrado oralmente, entre esses fatores é importante destacar os fatores fisiológicos, incluindo resistência a enzimas gastrointestinal, pH, e biodisponibilidade (absorção, transporte e capacidade para alcançar seus locais de ação) (LIAO *et al.*, 2018, SANTOS-HERNANDEZ *et al.*, 2018).

Alguns estudos relatam a ação protetora do HCO de forma diferenciada de acordo com o tratamento de hidrólise utilizado. O HCO com potencial atividade biológica obtidos e testados, o primeiro com pepsina por 8 horas e o segundo com 433P peptidase por 24 horas demonstraram atividade antioxidante e de inibição da inibidor da ECA *in vitro e* atividade antioxidante e hipocolesterolêmico *in vitro* respectivamente (MIGUEL *et al.*, 2004; DÁVALOS *et al.*, 2004). Posteriormente, foi demonstrado que o HCO com pepsina 8 horas mostrou-se ser mais promissor, devido sua capacidade de reduzir o estresse oxidativo e inflamação produzidas em ratos obesos *Zucker*, além de reduzir a esteatose hepática deste modelo animal (GARCÉS-RIMÓN *et al.*, 2016). Este HCO também mostrou atividade moduladora da microbiota intestinal, por reversão da disbiose produzida no intestino dos ratos obesos *Zucker* (REQUENA *et al.*, 2017).

Em estudos recentes do nosso grupo de pesquisa foi realizado um co-tratamento deste mesmo HCO em ratos *Wistar* expostos crônicamente a baixas doses de Hg por 60 dias e esse HCO foi capaz de reverter as alterações cardiovasculares, reprodutivas e neurológicas associado a um aumento no estresse oxidativo causado pela exposição a metal (RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2016a; RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2016b; RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2017b; RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2017c). Inicialmente, pensamos que as atividades descritas anteriormente sobre o HCO como a de ser inibidor da ECA, vasodilatador e antioxidante, poderia ser útil para reverter as alterações produzidas neste modelo de toxicidade por Hg. Porém, é sugerido que HCO com pepsina por 8 horas pode estar exercendo uma atividade de quelantes de metais relacionados com seu mecanismo de ação antioxidante, o que impediria o depósito de Hg no organismo (RIZZETTI *et al.*, 2016a).

3 JUSTIFICATIVA

O hidrolisado de clara do ovo um composto da classe dos alimentos funcionais, caraterizado por peptídeos bioativos com importantes características de cardioproteção como descrito por Miguel *et al.*, (2004), apresentou tanto in vitro como in vivo capacidade inibição da ECA, capacidade anti-inflamatória e antioxidante.

O mercúrio é um metal tóxico para o ser humano e provoca inúmeras alterações e riscos à saúde. Já está bem descrito na literatura que baixas concentrações sanguíneas deste metal, como as adquiridas no consumo de peixes contaminados ou no contato ou uso de amálgamas dentárias, são suficientes para alterar parâmetros fisiológicos importantes, inclusive no sistema cardiovascular.

Considerando os efeitos já conhecidos, principalmente através do estudo de efeitos crônicos com técnicas de administração controlada de mercúrio tendo como base o modelo desenvolvido por Wiggers *et al.*, (2008) e evidenciados ainda mais quando o modelo de exposição por maior tempo e observou-se o aumento do pressão arterial, o aumento da reatividade vascular em artéria de condutância, com maior participação da via do óxido nítrico e das espécies reativas de oxigênio descrito por Rizzetti *et al.*, (2017a).

Em estudos recentes do nosso grupo de pesquisa foi realizado um co-tratamento deste mesmo HCO em ratos *Wistar* expostos crônicamente a baixas doses de Hg por 60 dias e esse HCO foi capaz de reverter as alterações cardiovasculares, reprodutivas e neurológicas associado a um aumento no estresse oxidativo causado pela exposição a metal, principalmente no sistemas cardiovascular preveniu o aumento de pressão arterial e disfunções de vasoconstrição e vasorelaxamento em arterias de condutância Rizzetti *et al.*, (2017b).

No entanto, no presente estudo procuramos aprofundar os estudos nas artéria de resitência que são as principais envolvidas nas alterações de pressão, também investigar novos mecanismos de ação que possam estar envolvidos com a ação do Hg e HCO e por consequência determinar uma nova alternativa terapêutica para intoxição por Hg através do consumo de um alimento funcional.

4 OBJETIVO

4.1 Geral

Investigar se o co-tratamento com o HCO é capaz de promover efeitos benéficos sobre as disfunções hemodinâmicas e vasculares causadas pela intoxicação crônica a baixas concentrações de Hg em ratos.

4.2 Específicos

- Avaliar a reatividade vascular em vasos de resistência (artérias mesentéricas) de ratos expostos a 60 dias de HgCl₂ e co-tratados com HCO.

 Estudar as possíveis vias envolvidas, especificamente a via do óxido nítrico, das espécies reativas de oxigênio e da via ciclooxigenase nos efeitos vasculares promovidos pela exposição ao Hg e os possíveis efeitos protetores do co-tratamento com HCO

- Analisar o efeito dos tratamentos sobre os biomarcadores de estresse oxidativo em artérias mesentéricas.
PARTE II

Este artigo será submetido ao FOOD AND CHEMICAL TOXICOLOGY

Benefits of Egg White Hydrolysate intake on mesenteric resistance arteries after mercury induced damage in rats.

Alyne Goulart Escobar¹, Danize Aparecida Rizzetti², Janaina Piagette¹, Franck Maciel Peçanha¹, Dalton Valentim Vassallo³, Marta Miguel Castro⁴, Giulia Alessandra Wiggers^{1*}

¹Graduate Program in Biochemistry and Multicentric Graduate Program in Physiological Sciences, Universidade Federal do Pampa, BR 472 – Km 592 – PO box 118. Zip Code: 97500-970, Uruguaiana, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil.

²Polytechnic School, Federal University of Santa Maria, Av. Roraima, n° 1000. Zip Code: 97105-900, Santa Maria, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil.

³Departments of Physiological Sciences, Universidade Federal do Espírito Santo and School of Medicine of Santa Casa de Misericórdia (EMESCAM), Av. Marechal Campos 1468, Zip Code: 29040-090, Vitória, Espírito Santo, Brazil,

⁴Bioactivity and Food Analysis Laboratory, Instituto de Investigación en Ciencias de la Alimentación, Nicolás Cabrera, 9, Campus Universitario de Cantoblanco, Madrid, Spain.

*Correspondence to Giulia Alessandra Wiggers: giuliawp@gmail.com - PPGBioq - UNIPAMPA, BR 472 – Km 592 – PO box 118. Zip Code: 97500-970, Uruguaiana – Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. Phone/fax: 55-55-34134321.

Acknowledgments

Supported by National Council for Scientific and Technological Development – CNPq [CNPq 307399/2017-6]; Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior; Programa Nacional de Cooperação Acadêmica; Pró-reitoria de Pesquisa - Universidade Federal do Pampa [N° 20180615102630]; FAPES/CNPq/PRONEX [N° 80598773] and Spanish Goverment (MICINN) AGL-2017-89213.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Abstract

Egg white hydrolysate (EWH) has antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and vasodilator properties and could be an efficient alternative for prevention or treatment in heavy metal poisoning. The aim was to investigate the potential beneficial effects of EWH intake on vascular reactivity disorders induced by chronic exposure to low concentrations of Hg in mesenteric resistance arteries (MRA) as well as to clarify the possible pathways involved in its effects. Male Wistar rats were divided into four groups, treated for 60 days with: a) intramuscular injections (i.m.) of saline solution 0.9% and tap water by gavage (Untreated); b) *i.m.* injections of mercury chloride – HgCl₂, the 1st dose 4.6 µg/kg, and subsequent doses of 0.07 µg/kg/day, to cover daily loss, using the model previously described (Rizzetti et al., 2017a) and tap water by gavage (HgCl₂); c) *i.m.* injections of saline solution 0.9% and EWH from pepsin for 8 h diluted in tap water (1 g/kg/day), by gavage, according to model prior reported (Rizzetti et al., 2016a) (EWH); d) both treatments (EWH+HgCl₂).Vascular function was studied in MRA in isolated organ bath. Concentration-response curves to acetylcholine (ACh) and sodium nitroprusside (NPS) were performed. Vasoconstrictor response to noradrenaline (NE) in presence and absence of endothelium and in presence of a nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor (L-NAME), a non-selective cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor (INDO), a essential cofactor for NO synthesis (BH4), a NADPH oxidase inhibitor (VAS2870) and a superoxide dismutase mimic (TEMPOL) were analyzed. We measured in situ production of superoxide anion, NO release, vascular reactive oxygen species (ROS), lipid peroxidation, antioxidant capacity and NPSH levels in MRA. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee on Animal Use (052014 – Unipampa). Results were expressed as mean and SEM, compared by one- or two-way ANOVA analysis followed by the Fisher post hoc test. (P<0.05). EWH: a) prevented the increased systolic blood pressure (SBP), the endothelial dysfunction and the increased vasoconstrictor response to NE observed in MRA after prolonged HgCl₂ exposure; b) restored the NO-mediated endothelial modulation; c) inhibited the NAD(P)H oxidase-derived oxidative stress and the inflammatory pathways induced by the metal in these vessels, normalizing the antioxidant status. As a conclusion, the EWH seems to be able to counteract the vascular toxic effects of long-term exposure to $HgCl_2$, which points to possible therapeutic effects based on functional food against a highly widespread environmental contaminant.

Keywords: Egg White Hydrolysate; Mercury; Blood Pressure; Mesenteric Resistance Arteries; Nitric Oxide; Oxidative stress; Inflammatory Pathways.

Introduction

Mercury (Hg) is one of the most dangerous pollutants in the ecosystem, it is found in different physical and chemical forms and several toxicity levels as well as serious deleterious biological effects have already been demonstrated (Clarkson and Magos, 2006). These effects are dose and time-dependent and studies have shown damage to kidneys (Zalups, 2000), liver

(Huang et al., 2019), nervous system (Mello-Carpes et al., 2013), reproductive system (Martinez et al., 2014) and cardiovascular system (Rizzetti et al., 2017c) induced by small doses of this metal.

It is known that Hg is able to promote oxidative stress and it seems that this is the main pathway of tissue damage (Mahboob et al., 2001). In the cardiovascular system, Hg exposure at low doses for 30 days was able to induce oxidative stress, activation of cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway and stimulation of angiotensin II participation in contractile responses of conductance and resistance arteries from rats, leading to endothelial dysfunction and increased vascular reactivity in these vessels. However, no changes in blood pressure were observed (Pecanha et al., 2010; Wiggers et al., 2008). Recently, we have demonstrated that an increase in the exposure time at low doses of this metal (60 days) promotes worsening of previously observed vascular damage, leading to an increase in systolic blood pressure (SBP) (Rizzetti et al., 2017c).

As a preventive or therapeutic alternative against the deleterious consequences generated by the Hg, different compounds were studied and showed beneficial effects, such as chelants (Andersen and Aaseth, 2016), plant compounds (Abarikwu et al., 2017), synthetic antioxidants (Rizzetti et al., 2013) as well as bioactive peptides derived from egg white hydrolysate (EWH) (Rizzetti et al., 2017a). Bioactive peptides are defined as inactive molecules in the parent protein that, upon their release by hydrolysis in vitro or in vivo, may begin to develop biological activities (Liao et al., 2018). The EWH obtained by albumin hydrolysis with pepsin for 8 hours proposed in this study demonstrated to be a potent antioxidant, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor (Miguel et al., 2004), increase mitochondrial proliferation and bound gene expression (Moreno-Fernandez et al., 2018b) in addition to improving inflammatory biomarkers in animal models (Moreno-Fernandez et al., 2018a). It is known that EWH improves the Hg-induced damage in parameters related to memory deficits (Rizzetti et al., 2016a), peripheral nervous disorders (Rizzetti et al., 2016b), male reproductive dysfunction (Rizzetti et al., 2017b), as well as conductance arteries injury (Rizzetti et al., 2017a). In conductance arteries of long-term Hg-exposed rats, EWH prevented the increased vascular reactivity and endothelial dysfunction promoted by the metal. Moreover, normalized SBP values were observed in these rats. Taking into account that resistance arteries contribute significantly to the creation of the resistance to flow and regulation of blood pressure, the aim of this study was to investigate the potential beneficial effects of EWH intake on vascular disorders induced by chronic exposure to low

concentrations of Hg in mesenteric resistance arteries (MRA) as well as to clarify the possible pathways involved in its effects.

Materials and Methods

Animals and reagents

Three-month-old male *Wistar* rats (250g-350g) were obtained from Central Animal Laboratory of the Federal University of Santa Maria, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. During treatment, rats were maintained at a constant room temperature, humidity, and light/dark cycle, and they had access to water and feed *ad libitum*. All experiments were conducted in compliance with the guidelines for biomedical research stated by the Brazilian Societies of Experimental Biology and approved by the Ethic Committee on Animal Use at Federal University of Pampa, Uruguaiana, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil (institutional review board 052014). The experiments were designed to minimize the number of animals used and their suffering during the execution of the protocols. All reagents were high purity and purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA), and all of the solutions were prepared with purified water by a Milli-Q high purity water device (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA).

Experimental groups

Rats were divided into four groups, treated for 60 days with: a) intramuscular injections (*i.m.*) of saline solution 0.9% and tap water by gavage (Untreated); b) *i.m.* injections of mercury chloride – HgCl₂, the 1st dose 4.6 μ g/kg, and subsequent doses of 0.07 μ g/kg/day, to cover daily loss, using the model described previously (Rizzetti et al., 2017c) and tap water by gavage (HgCl₂); c) *i.m.* injections of saline solution 0.9% and EWH from pepsin for 8 h diluted in tap water (1 g/kg/day), by gavage, according to model prior reported (Rizzetti et al., 2016a) (EWH); d) both treatments (EWH+HgCl₂). During the treatment, the manipulation of the animals was performed following the appropriate safety measures and general health, body weight, food and water intakes were recorded once a week.

Blood pressure measurements

We weekly measured the SBP of the rats by noninvasive tail-cuff plethysmography (Bunag, 1973). For this, rats were kept before the measurement at 37 °C for 10 min to make the pulsations of the tail artery detectable. To determine the value of SBP 10 measurements were taken by the equipment (AD Instruments Pty Ltd, Bella Vista, NSW, Australia) and the

average of all of them was obtained. All measurements were taken by the same person in the same peaceful environment to minimize stress-induced variations in blood pressure. Moreover, we established a training period of 2 weeks before the actual trial time to guarantee the reliability of the measurements and during this period the rats were accustomed to the procedure.

Vascular reactivity experiments of the mesenteric arteries

Following 60 days of treatment, rats were anesthetized (ketamine - 87 mg/kg plus xylazine -13 mg/kg, *i.p.*). The third-order MRA were dissected and segments of 2 mm in length were mounted in a small vessel chamber myograph (Multi Wire Myograph System, DMT620, ADInstruments, Australia) for isometric tension measurements (Mulvany and Halpern, 1977). Subsequently they were placed in oxygenated Krebs-Henseleit solution (KHS, in mM: 115 NaCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 4.7 KCl, 1.2 MgSO₄ 7H₂O, 2.5 CaCl₂, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 11.1 glucose, and 0.01 Na₂EDTA) the buffer was equilibrated with a gas mixture of 95% O2 and 5% CO2 to pH 7.4 at 37°C. The vessel segments were stretched to their optimal luminal diameter for the active tension measurements, washed with KHS and left to equilibrate for 30 minutes to check their functional integrity. After, concentration-response curves to acetylcholine (ACh, 0.01 nM-30 mM) were performed in mesenteric resistance previously contracted with noradrenaline (NE), at a concentration that produced approximately 50% of the contraction induced by KCl. Relaxation equal to or greater than 80% represented a positive demonstration of the functional integrity of the endothelium. Then, after a washout period of the 30 minutes, increasing concentrations of NE (10 nM-30 µM) were applied. A concentration-response curve was generated, and tension was measured once a plateau was reached. The influence of the endothelium on the response to NE was investigated after its mechanical removal, which was accomplished by rubbing the vessel lumen. The absence of the endothelium was confirmed by the inability of 10 µM ACh to induce relaxation greater than 10% of the previous contraction to NE. A parallel study was performed to determine the effects of the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) inhibitor N-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME, 100 mM, an essential cofactor for NO synthesis, tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4, 100 µM), a non-selective cyclooxygenase inhibitor (Indomethacin, 10 µM), a NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor (VAS2870, 10 µM), a superoxide dismutase mimetic (TEMPOL, 10 µM). These drugs were added 30 min prior to the generation of the NE concentration-response curves. To evaluate the relaxation dependent and independent of the endothelium, concentrationresponse curves to ACh (0.1 nM -3.5 mM) and sodium nitroprusside (SNP) (0.1 nM -3.5 mM) were respectively performed.

Nitric oxide release

NO release was measured as previously described (Avendano et al., 2014). After an equilibration period of 60 min in Krebs-HEPES buffer at 37°C, mesenteric segments were incubated with 4,5-diaminofluorescein (DAF-2, 2 μ M) for 45min. Thereafter, the medium was collected to measure basal NO release. Subsequently, the induced NO release was measured after segments were incubated with NE 0.1 nM and relaxed with ACh 10 μ M. The fluorescence was measured using a spectrofluorometer (SpectraMax M5 Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) with excitation at 492 nm and emission at 515 nm. The induced NO release was obtained by subtracting basal NO release from that evoked by ACh. Blank samples were measured in the medium without segments to subtract background emission. The amount of NO released was expressed as arbitrary units/g tissue. Data were expressed as percentage of results obtained for Untreated rats.

Superoxide anion production in MRA

To evaluate *in situ* superoxide anion production in mesenteric arteries, the oxidative fluorescent dye dihydroethidium (DHE) was used as previously described (Martin et al., 2012). Hydroethidine freely permeates cells and is oxidized in the presence of superoxide anion to ethidium bromide, which is trapped by intercalation with DNA. Frozen mesenteric segments were cut into 14-µm-thick sections and placed on a glass slide. Serial mesenteric sections were equilibrated in a Krebs-HEPES buffer containing (in mM) 130 NaCl, 5.6 KCl, 2 CaCl₂, 0.24 MgCl₂, 8.3 HEPES, and 11 glucose, pH 7.4. Fresh buffer containing DHE (2 µM, 30 min, 37°C) was applied topically onto each tissue section, cover slipped, incubated for 30 min in a light-protected humidified chamber at 37°C, and then viewed by a fluorescence microscope (Eclipse 50i55i Epi-fluorescence Nikon, Tokyo, Japan, magnification: ×40). To quantify the fluorescence emitted by ethidium bromide, five artery cuts per animal were used. The total ring area for each experimental condition were analyzed using Image J version V1.56 (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA) software, for color images an external camera was used.

Biochemical Assays

For biochemical assays, segments of MRA were homogenized in 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, (1/10, w/v), centrifuged at 2400g for 10 min at 4°C and the resulting supernatant fraction

was frozen at -80 °C for further assay. Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) levels in MRA were determined by spectrofluorimetric method (Loetchutinat et al, 2005). For this, samples were diluted (1:5) in 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) and 2', 7'-dichlorofluorescein diacetate (DCHF-DA; 1 mM) was added to the medium. DCHF-DA is enzymatically hydrolyzed by intracellular esterases to form nonfluorescent DCHF, which is then rapidly oxidized to form highly fluorescent 2', 7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCF) in the presence of ROS. DCF fluorescence intensity is proportional to the amount of ROS formed. The DCF fluorescence intensity emission was recorded at 520 nm (with 488 nm excitation) for 60 min at 15 min intervals (SpectraMax M5 Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). The amount of ROS formed was expressed as fluorescence units; data were expressed as percentage of those obtained for Untreated rats.

We also measured lipid peroxidation levels were measured in MRA by colorimetric method (Ohkawa et al., 1979), with modifications. An aliquot of tissue was incubated with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) 0.8%, acetic acid buffer (pH 3.2) and sodium dodecil sulphate (SDS) 8% at 95°C for 60 min. The color reaction was measured at 532 nm against blanks (SpectraMax M5 Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA). The results were expressed as nmol of malondialdehyde (MDA) per gram of tissue.

The total antioxidant capacity was measured in samples mesenteric arteries by Ferric Reducing/Antioxidant Power (FRAP) assay (Benzie and Strain, 1996). This method is based on the ability of samples to decrease ferric ion (Fe³⁺) to ferrous ion (Fe²⁺) which forms with 2,4,6-Tri(2-piridil)-s-triazina (TPTZ) the chelate complex Fe⁺²-TPTZ. Briefly, 10 μ L of MRA was added to 1 mL of freshly prepared and pre warmed (37°C) FRAP reagent (300 mM acetate buffer pH 3.6, 10 mM TPTZ in 40 mM HCl, and 20 mM FeCl₃ in the ratio of 10:1:1) in a test tube and incubated at 37°C for 10 min. The absorbance of the blue colored complex was read against reagent blank (1 mL FRAP reagent + 10 μ L distilled water) at 593 nm (SpectraMax M5 Molecular Devices, CA, USA). Standard dose-response curve of Trolox (50–1000 μ M – water soluble analog of vitamin E) was performed and results are presented with particular reference to Trolox equivalents.

Non-protein thiols (NPSH) in mesenteric arteries were determined by the method of Ellman (1959). To do this, an aliquot of tissue was added to potassium phosphate buffer 1 M, pH 7.4, and 5,5⁻ dithio-bis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) (DTNB) 10 mM. The color reaction was spectrophotometrically measured at 412 nm (Spectrophotometer Femto600S, São Paulo, Brazil). The results were expressed as nmol of NPSH per gram of tissue.

Statistical analyses

Vasoconstrictor responses induced by NE were expressed as the % of the tone generated by 120 mM KCl. Vasodilator responses induced by ACh were expressed as the % of the previous tone in each case. The maximum response (Emax) and pD2 values were calculated by nonlinear regression analysis of each individual concentration-response curve using a computer program (GraphPad Prism 6 Software, San Diego, CA, USA). To compare the effect of endothelium removal and the drugs on the response to NE in segments from the four groups, some results are expressed as the differences of areas under the concentrationresponse curves (dAUC) in the control and experimental situations. AUCs were calculated from the individual concentration-response curve plots using the same software; the differences were expressed as the % of the AUC of the corresponding control situation. The results are expressed as the mean \pm SEM (standard error of the mean) of the number of animals used in each experiment; differences were analyzed using one- or two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA), followed by the Fisher post hoc test. Differences were considered statistically significant at P < 0.05.

Results

The water and food intake did not differ between the groups during the treatment (data not shown). Moreover, no differences in body weight gain were observed after the treatment (body weight gain, in g: Untreated: 58.5 ± 4.1 ; HgCl₂: 60.3 ± 4.9 ; EWH: 59.7 ± 3.8 ; EWH+HgCl₂: 61.1 ± 5.3 ; n = 8; P > 0.05). As previously shown (Rizzetti et al., 2017a), increased SBP values were verified in Hg-treated rats. However, co-treatment with EWH was able to prevent this increment in SBP (SBP values, in mmHg: Untreated: 120.1 ± 1.9 ; HgCl₂: $135.2 \pm 2.8^*$; EWH: 124.5 ± 1.5 ; EWH+HgCl₂: $122.0 \pm 2.2^{\#}$; n = 8; P < 0.05). In the vascular reactivity experiments, the response to KCl was not modified by different treatments (in mN/mm, Untreated: 14.1 ± 0.3 ; HgCl₂: 14.2 ± 0.5 ; EWH: 14.3 ± 0.1 ; EWH+HgCl₂: 14.1 ± 0.2 ; n=8, one-way ANOVA, P > 0.05), demonstrating that neither Hg nor EWH alter vascular integrity of MRA.

Hg treatment exposure for 60 days increased the contractile responses induced by NE while it reduced the endothelium-dependent vasodilator response to ACh without affecting the endothelium-independent vasodilator response to NPS in MRA. Interestingly, EWH-treatment was able to prevent the increase in the vasoconstrictor response to NE and the decrease in

Endothelium removal or the incubation with the NOS inhibitor L-NAME caused a significant increase in the contractile response to NE in MRA of Untreated, EWH and EWH+HgCl₂ groups. However, NE responses remained unchanged in HgCl₂ group, as demonstrated by the dAUC values (Fig 2A-E, a-e). These findings evidence absence of endothelial participation in the vasoconstrictor response to NE in this group. Interestingly, EWH treatment did not modify the effect of both endothelium removal or L-NAME; thus, mesenteric segments from animals that received treatment with EWH in combination with HgCl₂ showed similar effects of endothelium removal or L-NAME to the Untreated group (Fig 2A-E, a-e), suggesting that EWH prevented these reduced endothelial modulation by NO in MRA of rats exposed to chronic Hg treatment, as shown in conductance arteries (Rizzetti et al., 2017a). In agreement, ACh-induced NO release was decreased in MRA from Hg-treated rats. On the other hand, rats receiving EWH alone and those receiving the combination of HgCl₂ and EWH increased the percentage of NO release when compared to the untreated group (Fig 2a'). This finding suggests that EWH was able to induce NO production by NOS.

Previously we demonstrated that the oxidative stress is an important factor responsible for the reduction in the NO bioavailability produced by Hg (Rizzetti et al., 2017a; Rizzetti et al., 2017c; Wiggers et al., 2008). ROS derived from the enzyme NAD(P)H oxidase are involved in reducing NO bioavailability in the vasculature and may induce endothelial dysfunction in aortic arteries of Hg-exposed rats (Rizzetti et al., 2017a; Rizzetti et al., 2017c; Wiggers et al., 2008). In addition, NOS isoforms may also promote the formation of ROS when they are uncoupled, reducing NO bioavailability and causing vascular damage. In the eNOS, uncoupling is caused by the absence of the co-factors L-arginine and tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) (Andrews and Wang, 2002; Vasquez-Vivar et al., 1998). In order to investigate whether ROS arising from NAD(P)H oxidase and eNOS depletion would be involved in the vascular alterations of MRA from Hg-exposed rats, as well as the influence of EWH in the improvement of vascular oxidative stress, we performed *in vitro* experiments using an essential cofactor for NO synthesis, (BH4), a NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor (VAS2870) and a superoxide dismutase mimetic (TEMPOL).

The cofactor for NO synthesis BH4 incubation reduced the vasoconstrictor response induced by NE in the MRA only from Hg-treated rats, demonstrating a reduction in BH4

bioavailability and possibly a uncoupled state of eNOS in this vessel. The co-treatment with EWH prevented the reduced BH4 bioavailability in MRA from Hg-treated rats, suggesting the improvement of eNOS and NO syntesis (Fig 3A-E).

The NAD(P)H oxidase inhibitor VAS2870 reduced the contractile response to NE in MRA only in Hg treated rats (Fig 3a-e). EWH prevented the increased ROS participation from NAD(P)H oxidase on contractile response to NE. The superoxide dismutase mimetic TEMPOL reduced the contractile response to NE in MRA only from Hg-exposed rats, thus the NE responses remained unchanged in the other groups (Fig 3a'-e'). This finding suggests that EWH prevented the increased ROS participation from NAD(P)H oxidase in MRA from Hg-treated rats. NAD(P)H oxidase is an important source of vascular ROS production. Thus, we investigated the production of reactive species *in situ*. We observed a significant increase in superoxide anion production in arteries of rats exposed to Hg, and EWH was able to prevent this increase (Fig 4). In accordance with our functional experiments, chronic Hg treatment for 60 days increased ROS levels and lipid peroxidation in MRA from exposed rats (Fig 5A, B). Moreover, the total antioxidant capacity and the NPHS levels were reduced in the Hg-exposed rats (Fig 5C, D). EWH was able to prevent the oxidative stress in MRA of Hg-treated rats, normalizing the pro-oxidant and antioxidant status (Fig 5A-D).

Our previous study also reported that low dose of HgCl₂ increased the participation of inflammatory pathways on vasoconstrictor responses to Phe in the aorta (Pecanha et al., 2010; Rizzetti et al., 2017c). Thus, to investigate the role of EWH on prostanoids involvement in vascular response to NE in MRA rings from Hg-exposed rats, the effects of indomethacin were analyzed. Indomethacin reduced the response to NE in MRA segments from only in Hg-treated rats (Fig 6 A-E), indicating increased participation of the COX pathway in these conditions. Interestingly, EWH co-treatment totally prevented the increase in the participation of this inflammatory pathway on vasoconstrictor responses in MRA from Hg-treated rats.

Discussion

Our results demonstrated, for the first time, that EWH is able to prevent the increased contractile responses and vascular dysfunction induced by chronic Hg exposure at low concentrations in MRA, which probably leads to a reduction in SBP values of Hg-exposed rats. These effects were associated, at least in part, with the capacity of the EWH in producing NO by eNOS and its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. Its bioactive peptides

provide protection against the increased ROS from NAD(P)H oxidase and the activation of inflammatory COX pathways in MRA from Hg-treated rats, normalizing the NO modulation in this vasculature.

It is known that Hg is an environmental risk factor for cardiovascular diseases (Houston, 2007; Virtanen et al., 2007). There is evidence of the association between the exposure to this metal and the development of hypertension, atherosclerosis, coronary artery disease and myocardial infarction (Salonen et al., 2000; Vassallo et al., 2011). Acute Hg exposure promotes reduction of myocardial force development (Vassallo et al., 1999) and inhibition of myosin ATPase activity (Vassallo et al., 1999). Moreover, a subchronic exposure to this metal for 30 days, at doses similar to the human exposure, increases vascular reactivity in resistance and conductance vessels from rats (Pecanha et al., 2010; Wiggers et al., 2008). Recently we verified that a prolonged treatment at low doses of HgCl₂ for 60 days increased SBP and vascular dysfunction in conductance arteries, whose effects were related to stimulation of ACE activity, the NADPH oxidase-mediated oxidative stress and the activation of COX-2 inflammatory pathway in these vessels (Rizzetti et al., 2017a; Rizzetti et al., 2017c). In the current study we demonstrated that resistance arteries are also affected by prolonged exposure to Hg, which could explain the increased SBP values observed. Moreover, we confirmed that the oxidative stress, caused by the production of superoxide anion from NAD(P)H oxidase, and the participation of inflammatory mediators derived from COX are the main routes through which this metal exerts its toxic effects on the cardiovascular system. In addition, we verified for the first time the involvement of other pathways in Hg-induced damaging actions on vascular tissue, such as the possible eNOS uncoupling, which could be due to the increased vascular oxidative stress, possibly caused by the inflammatory stimuli from COX pathway. In this study we demonstrated the protective effect of EWH on resistance arteries, which are vessels responsible for controlling blood flow and controlling blood pressure affected by the metal (Magder, 2018; Nyvad et al., 2017). This EWH obtained from in vitro pepsin digestion after 8 h of hydrolysis has demonstrated different biological activities, such as antioxidant, free radical scavenger, ACE inhibitor, vascular-relaxing and anti-inflammatory activity (Miguel et al., 2004). Fourteen of its constituent peptides have already been identified and its actions have been reported when studied in vitro or in vivo (Miguel et al., 2006; Miguel et al., 2004).

The antihypertensive capacity of the EWH was previously reported in experimental models of spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) (Miguel et al., 2006) and this property was

attributed, at least in part, to the vasodilator peptides whose N-terminal position exhibits amino acids Arg or Tyr (Miguel et al., 2005; Miguel et al., 2004). This compound also demonstrated beneficial effects in metabolic syndrome parameters of high-fat/high-dextrose fed rats (Moreno-Fernandez et al., 2018a), improvement in glucose metabolism complications (Moreno-Fernandez et al., 2018b), decreased body weight and adipose tissue and ameliorated hepatic steatosis of Zucker fatty rats (Garces-Rimon et al., 2016).

Recently we reported beneficial effects of the EWH in a experimental model of longterm exposure to Hg at low doses, in which its compound was able to prevent neuropathic disorders (Rizzetti et al., 2016b); memory impairments (Rizzetti et al., 2016a); male reproductive injury (Rizzetti et al., 2017b) and cardiovascular dysfunction in conductance arteries (Rizzetti et al., 2017a) in these Hg-exposed rats. In the present study we demonstrated improvements in resistance arteries and, in consequence, in SBP levels of Hgtreated rats. The most part its effects on this system are probably due to its vascular-relaxing, antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties.

Regarding the effects of EWH on the Hg-induced vasodilator dysfunction, it has been reported that alterations in eNOS gene increases the susceptibility to cardiovascular diseases in individuals after Hg exposure by modulating NO levels (de Marco et al., 2012). The deleterious vascular effects of Hg on the aorta, coronary and basilar arteries resulting from exposure to the metal at low concentrations are related to the increased vascular reactivity caused by the reduction of NO bioavailability in these vessels (Botelho et al., 2019; Furieri et al., 2011; Pecanha et al., 2010; Wiggers et al., 2008). Moreover, a study in mesenteric arteries from rats treated for 30 days with HgCl₂ showed the eNOS protein expression upregulation possible due to a compensatory mechanism against metal-induced endothelial dysfunction (Wiggers et al., 2008). Our results indicate that the reduction in NO bioavailability and endothelial dysfunction persists in MRA of this long-term exposure experimental model. Moreover, we showed that the reduced NO bioavailability occurs, at least in part, due to a decrease in NO release in resistance arteries. Our functional and biochemical findings suggest that this reduction in NO release could be associated with the uncoupling of eNOS promoted by the Hg. In this condition, eNOS shifts from NO production to overproducing superoxide anion, incrementing the oxidative stress in the vasculature (Antoniades et al., 2006). Here we observed a decrease in the BH4 bioavailability in MRA of Hg-treated rats, which represents an important cofactor for the production of NO by this enzyme, indicating that the metal induces eNOS uncoupling by reducing its cofactor.. This dysfunction has been described in several cardiovascular disorders including diabetes, hypertension, and heart failure (Varadharaj et al., 2015).

Furthermore, at the vascular level, impaired NO bioavailability is also associated with overproduction of vascular ROS, generation of peroxynitrite and an inadequate antioxidant reserve (Faria et al., 2018). Interestingly, the oxidative stress has also been reported as an important mechanism responsible for the reduction in NO bioavailability induced by Hg (Rizzetti et al., 2017c; Wiggers et al., 2008) and it seems to be involved in Hg-induced vascular damage in our study. In addition, the oxidative stress can directly modify eNOS protein (Chen et al., 2010) or its cofactor BH4 and leading to an enzymatic dysfunction in vascular tissue (Dumitrescu et al., 2007; Kuzkaya et al., 2003). In this context, EWH is composed of several peptides that have vasodilator effects (Miguel et al., 2007). Other peptides derived from sources such as soybean (Yang et al., 2009), casein (Hirota et al., 2011), peptides isolated from fermented milk (Wakai et al., 2012) and fish protein (Kamoun et al., 2017) demonstrated similar activity, which was related to its capacity of increasing NO release by the rise in eNOS activity or the upregulation in protein expression of endothelial cells, L-NAME-induced hypertension, SHR and ethanol-induced oxidative stress animal models. Our study suggests that EWH was able to increase the NO release possibly enhancing the eNOS function, which is the major isoform involved in the control of vascular function and blood pressure (Shabeeh et al., 2017). The vasodilator power of EWH has already been described in SHR model and related to the fact of having amino acids like Arg or Tyr that are necessary in the N-terminal position for vasodilator activity (Garcia-Redondo et al., 2010).

Regard to the antioxidant effects of the EWH on oxidative damage in MRA of Hgexposed rats, several amino acid sequences have been related to scavenging free radicals and antioxidant properties (Miguel et al., 2004). Amino acid sequences such as Tyr-Ala and Glu-Arg-Tyr-Pro-Ile-Leu were suggested as responsible for *in vitro* antioxidant properties (Davalos et al., 2004). However, it is known that antioxidant peptides and amino acids not only act individually, but also cooperatively and synergistically beyond the absorption and hydrolysis in the gastrointestinal system should also be considered (Davalos et al., 2004; Miner-Williams et al., 2014). In the present study EWH was able to prevent the oxidative stress in MRA of Hg-treated rats, avoiding the superoxide anion generation from NAD(P)H oxidase and normalizing the pro-oxidant and antioxidant status verified by the functional experiments and the oxidative stress biomarkers in vascular tissue. Previous study by our research group has showed reduced NOX-4 and p22phox mRNA levels in aorta from longterm Hg exposed-rats after the co-treatment with EWH, which was related to the reduced vascular reactivity observed in this conductance vessels (Rizzetti et al., 2017a). Similar effect could be found in MRA in the present study to explain our findings. Moreover, recently, EWH demonstrated that its antioxidant properties decreased plasmatic MDA levels and increased the levels of reduced glutathione in the liver of Zucker obese animals (Garces-Rimon et al., 2016). Restored plasma antioxidant capacity was found in high-fat/high-dextrose fed rats with metabolic syndrome after EWH intake (Moreno-Fernandez et al., 2018a) In addition, normalized oxidative biomarkers were reported in neurological, reproductive and cardiovascular systems from Hg-exposed animals after EWH consumption (Rizzetti et al., 2016a; Rizzetti et al., 2016b; Rizzetti et al., 2017a; Rizzetti et al., 2017b).

Our results also evidence that Hg stimulates the COX inflammatory pathway in MRA of these metal-exposed rats. Different biochemical and physical stimuli can activate inflammatory leukocytes, resulting in the induction and synthesis of proinflammatory proteins and enzymes, in particular of the most important enzyme is COX-2 (Murakami and Ohigashi, 2007; Turini and DuBois, 2002). Molecular oxygen in tissues whereas COX-2 activity leads to the conversion of arachidonic acid to prostaglandin (PG)-H2, a precursor of PGE2, which contributes to the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases (Udenigwe et al., 2013). It has been described that Hg induces NF-kB activation, resulting in the induced expression of COX-2 (Park and Youn, 2013). However, in the current study, the co-treatment with EWH avoided the activation of these inflammatory pathways in Hg-exposed rats. It has been described that the EHW consumption diminished the pro-inflammatory state and decreased the plasma levels of TNF-a in Zucker fatty rats (Garces-Rimon et al., 2016), increased expression of the antiinflammatory hormone adiponectin and suppressed cytokine mediated inflammatory response in pre-adipocyte cell (Jahandideh et al., 2017). The EWH intake also contributes to the improvement of inflammation biomarkers in obese Zucker rats (Requena et al., 2017). Furthermore, this compound inhibited the release of inflammatory cells in testis from Hgexposed rats (Rizzetti et al., 2017b), and totally prevented the increased participation of COX-2 pathway on vasoconstrictor responses in conductance arteries (Rizzetti et al., 2017a), corroborating our present findings. Furthermore, hydrolysates produced from other proteins have shown anti-inflammatory properties. Almond-derived peptides exhibited action on inflammatory pathways, reducing the mRNA expression levels of COX-2 enzymes and the activated macrophages (Udenigwe et al., 2013). Similarly our results also evidence EWH totally prevented the increase in the participation inflammatory pathway COX participation, normalizing the NO production in MRA.

In summary, our results evidenced for the first time that a dietetic supplementation with EWH promotes protective effects against the endothelial dysfunction in MRA, and, in consequence, the increment in SBP of long-term Hg-exposed rats. Its benefits could be possibly related to its NO-induced vasodilatation capacity and its antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, reducing the increased ROS from NAD(P)H oxidase and the activation of inflammatory COX pathway in MRA from Hg-treated rats. The EWH could represent a good public health strategy against cardiotoxic pollutants.

References

Abarikwu, S.O., Benjamin, S., Ebah, S.G., Obilor, G., Agbam, G., 2017. Oral administration of Moringa oleifera oil but not coconut oil prevents mercury-induced testicular toxicity in rats. Andrologia 49.

Andersen, O., Aaseth, J., 2016. A review of pitfalls and progress in chelation treatment of metal poisonings. Journal of trace elements in medicine and biology : organ of the Society for Minerals and Trace Elements (GMS) 38, 74-80.

Andrews, L., Wang, X., 2002. Infrared spectrum of the novel electron-deficient BH(4) radical in solid neon. Journal of the American Chemical Society 124, 7280-7281.

Antoniades, C., Shirodaria, C., Warrick, N., Cai, S., de Bono, J., Lee, J., Leeson, P., Neubauer, S., Ratnatunga, C., Pillai, R., Refsum, H., Channon, K.M., 2006. 5methyltetrahydrofolate rapidly improves endothelial function and decreases superoxide production in human vessels: effects on vascular tetrahydrobiopterin availability and endothelial nitric oxide synthase coupling. Circulation 114, 1193-1201.

Avendano, M.S., Lucas, E., Jurado-Pueyo, M., Martinez-Revelles, S., Vila-Bedmar, R., Mayor, F., Jr., Salaices, M., Briones, A.M., Murga, C., 2014. Increased nitric oxide bioavailability in adult GRK2 hemizygous mice protects against angiotensin II-induced hypertension. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex. : 1979) 63, 369-375.

Benzie, I.F., Strain, J.J., 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. Analytical biochemistry 239, 70-76.

Botelho, T., Marques, V.B., Simoes, M.R., do Val Lima, P.R., Simoes, F.V., Vassallo, D.V., Dos Santos, L., 2019. Impaired participation of potassium channels and Na(+)/K(+) -ATPase in vasodilatation due to reduced nitric oxide bioavailability in rats exposed to mercury. Basic & clinical pharmacology & toxicology 124, 190-198.

Bunag, R.D., 1973. Validation in awake rats of a tail-cuff method for measuring systolic pressure. Journal of applied physiology 34, 279-282.

Chen, Q., Kim, E.E., Elio, K., Zambrano, C., Krass, S., Teng, J.C., Kay, H., Perkins, K.A., Pershad, S., McGraw, S., Emrich, J., Adams, J.S., Young, L.H., 2010. The role of

tetrahydrobiopterin and dihydrobiopterin in ischemia/reperfusion injury when given at reperfusion. Advances in pharmacological sciences 2010, 963914.

Clarkson, T.W., Magos, L., 2006. The toxicology of mercury and its chemical compounds. Critical reviews in toxicology 36, 609-662.

Clarkson, T.W., Magos, L., 2006. The toxicology of mercury and its chemical compounds. Critical reviews in toxicology 36, 609-662.

Davalos, A., Miguel, M., Bartolome, B., Lopez-Fandino, R., 2004. Antioxidant activity of peptides derived from egg white proteins by enzymatic hydrolysis. Journal of food protection 67, 1939-1944.

de Marco, K.C., Antunes, L.M., Tanus-Santos, J.E., Barbosa, F., Jr., 2012. Intron 4 polymorphism of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) gene is associated with decreased NO production in a mercury-exposed population. The Science of the total environment 414, 708-712.

Dumitrescu, C., Biondi, R., Xia, Y., Cardounel, A.J., Druhan, L.J., Ambrosio, G., Zweier, J.L., 2007. Myocardial ischemia results in tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) oxidation with impaired endothelial function ameliorated by BH4. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 15081-15086.

Faria, T.O., Simoes, M.R., Vassallo, D.V., Forechi, L., Almenara, C.C.P., Marchezini, B.A., Stefanon, I., Vassallo, P.F., 2018. Xanthine Oxidase Activation Modulates the Endothelial (Vascular) Dysfunction Related to HgCl2 Exposure Plus Myocardial Infarction in Rats. Cardiovascular toxicology 18, 161-174.

Furieri, L.B., Fioresi, M., Junior, R.F., Bartolome, M.V., Fernandes, A.A., Cachofeiro, V., Lahera, V., Salaices, M., Stefanon, I., Vassallo, D.V., 2011. Exposure to low mercury concentration in vivo impairs myocardial contractile function. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 255, 193-199.

Garces-Rimon, M., Gonzalez, C., Uranga, J.A., Lopez-Miranda, V., Lopez-Fandino, R., Miguel, M., 2016. Pepsin Egg White Hydrolysate Ameliorates Obesity-Related Oxidative Stress, Inflammation and Steatosis in Zucker Fatty Rats. PloS one 11, e0151193.

Garcia-Redondo, A.B., Roque, F.R., Miguel, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., Salaices, M., 2010. Vascular effects of egg white-derived peptides in resistance arteries from rats. Structure-activity relationships. Journal of the science of food and agriculture 90, 1988-1993.

Hirota, T., Nonaka, A., Matsushita, A., Uchida, N., Ohki, K., Asakura, M., Kitakaze, M., 2011. Milk casein-derived tripeptides, VPP and IPP induced NO production in cultured endothelial cells and endothelium-dependent relaxation of isolated aortic rings. Heart and vessels 26, 549-556.

Houston, M.C., 2007. The role of mercury and cadmium heavy metals in vascular disease, hypertension, coronary heart disease, and myocardial infarction. Alternative therapies in health and medicine 13, S128-133.

Huang, Z.S., Wei, Z.S., Xiao, X.L., Tang, M.R., Li, B.L., Zhang, X., 2019. Simultaneous mercury oxidation and NO reduction in a membrane biofilm reactor. The Science of the total environment 658, 1465-1474.

Jahandideh, F., Chakrabarti, S., Davidge, S.T., Wu, J., 2017. Egg white hydrolysate shows insulin mimetic and sensitizing effects in 3T3-F442A pre-adipocytes. PloS one 12, e0185653.

Kamoun, Z., Kamoun, A.S., Bougatef, A., Kharrat, R.M., Youssfi, H., Boudawara, T., Chakroun, M., Nasri, M., Zeghal, N., 2017. Hepatoprotective and nephroprotective effects of sardinelle (Sardinella aurita) protein hydrolysate against ethanol-induced oxidative stress in rats. Environmental science and pollution research international 24, 1432-1441.

Kuzkaya, N., Weissmann, N., Harrison, D.G., Dikalov, S., 2003. Interactions of peroxynitrite, tetrahydrobiopterin, ascorbic acid, and thiols: implications for uncoupling endothelial nitric-oxide synthase. The Journal of biological chemistry 278, 22546-22554.

Liao, W., Bhullar, K.S., Chakrabarti, S., Davidge, S.T., Wu, J., 2018. Egg White-Derived Tripeptide IRW (Ile-Arg-Trp) Is an Activator of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme 2. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry 66, 11330-11336.

Magder, S., 2018. The meaning of blood pressure. Critical care (London, England) 22, 257.

Mahboob, M., Shireen, K.F., Atkinson, A., Khan, A.T., 2001. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activity in different organs of mice exposed to low level of mercury.

Journal of environmental science and health. Part. B, Pesticides, food contaminants, and agricultural wastes 36, 687-697.

Martin, A., Perez-Giron, J.V., Hernanz, R., Palacios, R., Briones, A.M., Fortuno, A., Zalba, G., Salaices, M., Alonso, M.J., 2012. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma activation reduces cyclooxygenase-2 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells from hypertensive rats by interfering with oxidative stress. Journal of hypertension 30, 315-326.

Martinez, C.S., Escobar, A.G., Torres, J.G., Brum, D.S., Santos, F.W., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., Vassallo, D.V., Pecanha, F.M., Leivas, F.G., Wiggers, G.A., 2014. Chronic exposure to low doses of mercury impairs sperm quality and induces oxidative stress in rats. Journal of toxicology and environmental health. Part A 77, 143-154.

Mello-Carpes, P.B., Barros, W., Borges, S., Alves, N., Rizzetti, D., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Wiggers, G.A., Izquierdo, I., 2013. Chronic exposure to low mercury chloride concentration induces object recognition and aversive memories deficits in rats. International journal of developmental neuroscience : the official journal of the International Society for Developmental Neuroscience 31, 468-472.

Meram, C., Wu, J., 2017. Anti-inflammatory effects of egg yolk livetins (alpha, beta, and gamma-livetin) fraction and its enzymatic hydrolysates in lipopolysaccharide-induced RAW 264.7 macrophages. Food research international (Ottawa, Ont.) 100, 449-459.

Miguel, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., Ramos, M., Aleixandre, A., 2005. Short-term effect of eggwhite hydrolysate products on the arterial blood pressure of hypertensive rats. The British journal of nutrition 94, 731-737.

Miguel, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., Ramos, M., Aleixandre, A., 2006. Long-term intake of egg white hydrolysate attenuates the development of hypertension in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Life sciences 78, 2960-2966.

Miguel, M., Manso, M., Aleixandre, A., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., 2007. Vascular effects, angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE)-inhibitory activity, and antihypertensive properties of peptides derived from egg white. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry 55, 10615-10621.

Miguel, M., Recio, I., Gomez-Ruiz, J.A., Ramos, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., 2004. Angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitory activity of peptides derived from egg white proteins by enzymatic hydrolysis. Journal of food protection 67, 1914-1920.

Miner-Williams, W.M., Stevens, B.R., Moughan, P.J., 2014. Are intact peptides absorbed from the healthy gut in the adult human? Nutrition research reviews 27, 308-329.

Moreno-Fernandez, S., Garces-Rimon, M., Gonzalez, C., Uranga, J.A., Lopez-Miranda, V., Vera, G., Miguel, M., 2018a. Pepsin egg white hydrolysate ameliorates metabolic syndrome in high-fat/high-dextrose fed rats. Food & function 9, 78-86.

Moreno-Fernandez, S., Garces-Rimon, M., Uranga, J.A., Astier, J., Landrier, J.F., Miguel, M., 2018b. Expression enhancement in brown adipose tissue of genes related to thermogenesis and mitochondrial dynamics after administration of pepsin egg white hydrolysate. Food & function 9, 6599-6607.

Mulvany, M.J., Halpern, W., 1977. Contractile properties of small arterial resistance vessels in spontaneously hypertensive and normotensive rats. Circulation research 41, 19-26.

Murakami, A., Ohigashi, H., 2007. Targeting NOX, INOS and COX-2 in inflammatory cells: chemoprevention using food phytochemicals. International journal of cancer 121, 2357-2363.

Nyvad, J., Mazur, A., Postnov, D.D., Straarup, M.S., Soendergaard, A.M., Staehr, C., Brondum, E., Aalkjaer, C., Matchkov, V.V., 2017. Intravital investigation of rat mesenteric small artery tone and blood flow. The Journal of physiology 595, 5037-5053.

Ohkawa, H., Ohishi, N., Yagi, K., 1979. Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Analytical biochemistry 95, 351-358.

Park, H.J., Youn, H.S., 2013. Mercury induces the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase. Toxicology and industrial health 29, 169-174.

Pecanha, F.M., Wiggers, G.A., Briones, A.M., Perez-Giron, J.V., Miguel, M., Garcia-Redondo, A.B., Vassallo, D.V., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., 2010. The role of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 derived prostanoids on vasoconstrictor responses to phenylephrine is increased by exposure to low mercury concentration. Journal of physiology and pharmacology : an official journal of the Polish Physiological Society 61, 29-36.

Requena, T., Miguel, M., Garces-Rimon, M., Martinez-Cuesta, M.C., Lopez-Fandino, R., Pelaez, C., 2017. Pepsin egg white hydrolysate modulates gut microbiota in Zucker obese rats. Food & function 8, 437-443.

Rizzetti, D.A., Altermann, C.D., Martinez, C.S., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Uranga-Ocio, J.A., Castro, M.M., Wiggers, G.A., Mello-Carpes, P.B., 2016a. Ameliorative effects of egg white hydrolysate on recognition memory impairments associated with chronic exposure to low mercury concentration. Neurochemistry international 101, 30-37.

Rizzetti, D.A., Fernandez, F., Moreno, S., Uranga Ocio, J.A., Pecanha, F.M., Vera, G., Vassallo, D.V., Castro, M.M., Wiggers, G.A., 2016b. Egg white hydrolysate promotes neuroprotection for neuropathic disorders induced by chronic exposure to low concentrations of mercury. Brain research 1646, 482-489.

Rizzetti, D.A., Martin, A., Corrales, P., Fernandez, F., Simoes, M.R., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Miguel, M., Wiggers, G.A., 2017a. Egg white-derived peptides prevent cardiovascular disorders induced by mercury in rats: Role of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) and NADPH oxidase. Toxicology letters 281, 158-174.

Rizzetti, D.A., Martinez, C.S., Escobar, A.G., da Silva, T.M., Uranga-Ocio, J.A., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Castro, M.M., Wiggers, G.A., 2017b. Egg white-derived peptides prevent male reproductive dysfunction induced by mercury in rats. Food and chemical toxicology : an international journal published for the British Industrial Biological Research Association 100, 253-264.

Rizzetti, D.A., Torres, J.G., Escobar, A.G., da Silva, T.M., Moraes, P.Z., Hernanz, R., Pecanha, F.M., Castro, M.M., Vassallo, D.V., Salaices, M., Alonso, M.J., Wiggers, G.A., 2017c. The cessation of the long-term exposure to low doses of mercury ameliorates the increase in systolic blood pressure and vascular damage in rats. Environmental research 155, 182-192.

Rizzetti, D.A., Torres, J.G., Escobar, A.G., Pecanha, F.M., Santos, F.W., Puntel, R.L., Alonso, M.J., Briones, A.M., Salaices, M., Vassallo, D.V., Wiggers, G.A., 2013. Apocynin prevents vascular effects caused by chronic exposure to low concentrations of mercury. PloS one 8, e55806.

Salonen, J.T., Seppanen, K., Lakka, T.A., Salonen, R., Kaplan, G.A., 2000. Mercury accumulation and accelerated progression of carotid atherosclerosis: a population-based prospective 4-year follow-up study in men in eastern Finland. Atherosclerosis 148, 265-273.

Shabeeh, H., Khan, S., Jiang, B., Brett, S., Melikian, N., Casadei, B., Chowienczyk, P.J., Shah, A.M., 2017. Blood Pressure in Healthy Humans Is Regulated by Neuronal NO Synthase. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex. : 1979) 69, 970-976.

Turini, M.E., DuBois, R.N., 2002. Cyclooxygenase-2: a therapeutic target. Annual review of medicine 53, 35-57.

Udenigwe, C.C., Je, J.Y., Cho, Y.S., Yada, R.Y., 2013. Almond protein hydrolysate fraction modulates the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and enzymes in activated macrophages. Food & function 4, 777-783.

Varadharaj, S., Porter, K., Pleister, A., Wannemacher, J., Sow, A., Jarjoura, D., Zweier, J.L., Khayat, R.N., 2015. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling: a novel pathway in OSA induced vascular endothelial dysfunction. Respiratory physiology & neurobiology 207, 40-47.

Vasquez-Vivar, J., Kalyanaraman, B., Martasek, P., Hogg, N., Masters, B.S., Karoui, H., Tordo, P., Pritchard, K.A., Jr., 1998. Superoxide generation by endothelial nitric oxide synthase: the influence of cofactors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 9220-9225.

Vassallo, D.V., Moreira, C.M., Oliveira, E.M., Bertollo, D.M., Veloso, T.C., 1999. Effects of mercury on the isolated heart muscle are prevented by DTT and cysteine. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 156, 113-118.

Vassallo, D.V., Simoes, M.R., Furieri, L.B., Fioresi, M., Fiorim, J., Almeida, E.A., Angeli, J.K., Wiggers, G.A., Pecanha, F.M., Salaices, M., 2011. Toxic effects of mercury, lead and gadolinium on vascular reactivity. Brazilian journal of medical and biological research = Revista brasileira de pesquisas medicas e biologicas 44, 939-946.

Virtanen, J.K., Rissanen, T.H., Voutilainen, S., Tuomainen, T.P., 2007. Mercury as a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry 18, 75-85.

Wakai, T., Yamaguchi, N., Hatanaka, M., Nakamura, Y., Yamamoto, N., 2012. Repressive processing of antihypertensive peptides, Val-Pro-Pro and Ile-Pro-Pro, in Lactobacillus helveticus fermented milk by added peptides. Journal of bioscience and bioengineering 114, 133-137.

Wiggers, G.A., Pecanha, F.M., Briones, A.M., Perez-Giron, J.V., Miguel, M., Vassallo, D.V., Cachofeiro, V., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., 2008. Low mercury concentrations cause oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction in conductance and resistance arteries. American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology 295, H1033-h1043.

Yang, A., Ren, G., Tang, L., Jiang, W., 2009. [Effects of soy bean isoflavone on inhibition of benign prostatic hyperplasia and the expressions of NO and NOS of rats]. Wei sheng yan jiu = Journal of hygiene research 38, 172-174.

Yoshida, K., Tanaka, T., Kohno, H., Sakata, K., Kawamori, T., Mori, H., Wakabayashi, K., 2003. A COX-2 inhibitor, nimesulide, inhibits chemically-induced rat tongue carcinogenesis through suppression of cell proliferation activity and COX-2 and iNOS expression. Histology and histopathology 18, 39-48.

Zalups, R.K., 2000. Molecular interactions with mercury in the kidney. Pharmacological reviews 52, 113-143.

		pD_2				Emax(%)			
		Untreated	HgCl ₂	EWH	EWH+HgCl ₂	Untreated	HgCl ₂	EWH	EWH+HgCl ₂
	Ct	5.3 ± 0.06	5.1 ± 0.03	4.9 ± 0.04	5.1 ± 0.05	98.3 ± 1.2	116.6 ±1.7	93.7 ± 2.6	92.7 ± 2.8
	E-	5.4 ± 0.1	5.2 ± 0.05	5.0 ± 0.06	5.2 ± 0.06	109.6 ± 3.4	113.5 ± 2.5	106.6 ± 2.5	102.9 ±3.0
LNA	ME	5.0 ± 0.08	5.1 ± 0.08	5.0 ± 0.07	5,0 ± 0.1	109.6 ±2.3	113.9 ± 3.6	105.6 ± 3.6	108.1 ±4.0
В	H4	4.9 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.06	4.8 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.08	89.7 ± 2.9	76.1 ± 12.0	87.7 ± 6.5	82.0 ± 3.4
VAS2	870	5.0 ± 0.1	4.9 ± 0.08	4.8 ± 0.07	4.9 ± 0.05	80.4 ± 6.4	87.6 ±5.4	83.2 ±4.0	86.4 ± 4.2
TEMP	OL	5.1 ± 0.1	4.8 ± 0.07	4.8 ± 0.07	5.1 ± 0.06	93.3 ± 2.6	87.7 ± 8.9	95.6 ± 4.9	101.1 ±4.6
IN	DO	4.8 ± 0.1	4.85 ± 0.08	4.8 ± 0.05	4.89 ± 0.04	89.9 ± 3.3	90.1±4.1	83.3 ±3.4	90.6 ± 2.7

Table 1: Effect of EWH on sensitivity (pD2) and maximum response (Emax) to NE in mesenteric rings of rats exposed to low doses of HgCl2 for 60 days.

Parameters of sensitivity (pD2) and maximal response (Emax) of the concentration-response curves to NE in MRA from rats Untreated, treated with Mercury, Hydrolysate and Hydrolysate plus Mercury in intact (Ct) and endothelium removal (E-) segments and in the presence of L-NAME, BH4, VAS2870, TEMPOL and Indomethacin incubation. Results are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Emax, maximal effect (expressed as a percentage of maximal response induced by 120mMKCl) and pD2 (expressed as $-\log$ one-half Emax) (8 of each group in parenthesis, one-way ANOVA, *P < 0.05 vs. compared to the corresponding control in each group; #P < 0.05 vs. Untreated group).

Figure legends

Figure 1. Effect of EWH co-treatment in MRA reactivity of rats exposure to Hg for 60 days. Concentration–response curves to (A) noradrenaline (NE), (B) acetylcholine and (C) sodium nitroprusside in MRA segments. The results (mean \pm SEM) are expressed as a percentage of the response to 120mmol/l KCl. Two-Way ANOVA followed by Fisher test; n of each group in parenthesis; *P<0,05 vs Untreated and # vs HgCl₂.

Figure 2. Effects of EWH co-treatment in MRA of rats exposure to Hg for 60 days on the endothelium and NO mediated vascular response. Concentration-response curve to NE in the absence of endothelium (E–) (A-D) and L-NAME (100 μ M) (a-d) in mesenteric segments from rats Untreated (A), treated with Mercury (B), with Hydrolysate (C) and with Hydrolysate plus Mercury (D). The results (mean ± SEM) are expressed as a percentage of the response to 120mmol/1 KCl. Two-Way ANOVA followed by Fisher test; *P<0,05 vs Untreated and # vs HgCl₂. Differences in the area under the concentration-response curves (dAUC) in mesenteric segments are represented in E and e of the four experimental groups ; one-way ANOVA, *P < 0.05 vs. Untreated and # vs HgCl₂. In a´ represent the NO release in all experimental groups.

Figure 3. Effects of EWH on NO cofactor modulation, participation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from NAD(P)H oxidase and participation of superoxide anion in vasoconstrictor responses to NE in MRA from rats exposed to low concentrations of HgCl₂ for 60 days. Concentration-response curve to NE in the absence (Ct), presence of the eNOS cofactor (BH4) (A-D), the presence of the NAD(P)H synthase inhibitor (VAS2870) (a-d) and the presence of the superoxide anion scavenger mimetic (TEMPOL) (a'-d') in mesenteric segments from rats Untreated (A), treated with Mercury (B), with Hydrolysate (C) and with Hydrolysate plus Mercury (D). The results (mean \pm SEM) are expressed as a percentage of the response to 120mmol/1 KCl. Differences in the area under the concentration-response curves (dAUC) in mesenteric segments in the presence and the absence of BH4, VAS2870 and TEMPOL of the four experimental groups (E, e and e'); n of each group in parenthesis, one-way ANOVA, *P < 0.05 vs. Untreated and # vs HgCl2.

Figure 4: Effects of EWH on local anion superoxide production in mesenteric of rats exposed to low concentrations of HgCl₂ for 60 days. Superoxide Anion production in mesenteric from rats Untreated, treated with Mercury, with Hydrolysate or with Hydrolysate plus Mercury levels in mesenteric of all groups; n of each group in parenthesis, one-way ANOVA, *P < 0.05 vs. Untreated, # vs HgCl2.

Figure 5: Effects of EWH in the ROS (A), MDA (B), the total antioxidant capacity (C) and NPSH (D) in mesenteric of rats exposed to low concentrations of HgCl₂ for 60 days. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Number of animals is indicated in parentheses respectively, one-way ANOVA, *P < 0.05 vs. Untreated; # vs HgCl2.

Figure 6: Effects of EWH on contribution of COX pathway on vasoconstrictor responses to NE in mesenteric of rats exposed to low concentrations of HgCl₂ for 60 days. Concentration-response curve to NE in the absence (Ct), the presence of the non-selective COX inhibitor (Indomethacin) (A-D) in mesenteric segments from rats Untreated (A), treated with Mercury (B), with Hydrolysate (C) and with Hydrolysate plus Mercury (D). The results (mean \pm SEM) are expressed as a percentage of the response to 120mmol/1 KCl. Two-Way ANOVA followed by Fisher test; n of each group in parenthesis; *P<0,05 vs Untreated and # vs HgCl₂. Differences in the area under the concentration-response curves (dAUC) in mesenteric segments are represented in E and e graphs (one-way ANOVA)

Figures

















6. REFERÊNCIAS

AASETH, J.; ALEXANDER, J.; RAKNERUD, N. Treatment of mercuric chloride poisoning with dimercaptosuccinic acid and diuretics: preliminary studies. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol, v. 19, n. 2, p. 173-86, Apr 2015.

AASETH, J.; HILT, B., & BKOKLUND, G. Mercury exposure and health impacts in dental personnel. Environmental Research, 164, 65–69. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2018.02.019, Jan 2018.

ABARIKWU, S. O. et al. Oral administration of Moringa oleifera oil but not coconut oil prevents mercury-induced testicular toxicity in rats. Andrologia, v. 49, n. 1, Feb 2017.

ABUAJAH, C. I.; OGBONNA, A. C.; OSUJI, C. M. Functional components and medicinal properties of food: a review. J Food Sci Technol, v. 52, n. 5, p. 2522-9, May 2015.

ABUAJAH, C. I.; OGBONNA, A. C.; OSUJI, C. M. Functional components and medicinal properties of food: a review. Journal of Food Science and Technology. 52(5):2522-2529, 2015

AGRAWAL, S. et al. Comparative oxidative stress, metallothionein induction and organ toxicity following chronic exposure to arsenic, lead and mercury in rats. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand), v. 60, n. 2, p. 13-21, Jun 22 2014.

AGUADO, A. et al. Mercury induces proliferation and reduces cell size in vascular smooth muscle cells through MAPK, oxidative stress and cyclooxygenase-2 pathways. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, v. 268, n. 2, p. 188-200, Apr 15 2013.

ANDERSEN C. J. e FERNANDEZ M. L. Dietary strategies to reduce metabolic syndrome. Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders. 2013. ANDERSEN, O.; AASETH, J. A review of pitfalls and progress in chelation treatment of metal poisonings. J Trace Elem Med Biol, v. 38, p. 74-80, Dec 2016.

ANDERSEN, O.; AASETH, J. A review of pitfalls and progress in chelation treatment of metal poisonings. J Trace Elem Med Biol, v. 38, p. 74-80, Dec 2016.

ANDRADE, V. M.; ASCHNER, M.; MARREILHA DOS SANTOS, A. P. Neurotoxicity of Metal Mixtures. Adv Neurobiol, v. 18, p. 227-265, 2017.

ANSAR, S. Effect of Selenium on the Levels of Cytokines and Trace Elements in Toxin-Mediated Oxidative Stress in Male Rats. Biol Trace Elem Res, v. 169, n. 1, p. 129-33, Jan 2016.

BJORKLUND, G.; MUTTER, J.; AASETH, J. Metal chelators and neurotoxicity: lead, mercury, and arsenic. Arch Toxicol, v. 91, n. 12, p. 3787-3797, Dec 2017.

BOONLA, O. et al. Peptides-Derived from Thai Rice Bran Improves Endothelial Function in 2K-1C Renovascular Hypertensive Rats. Nutrients, v. 7, n. 7, p. 5783-99, Jul 15 2015.

BRAZOVA, T. et al. Perch and its parasites as heavy metal biomonitors in a freshwater environment: the case study of the Ruzin water reservoir, Slovakia. Sensors (Basel), v. 12, n. 3, p. 3068-81, 2012.

BRIDGES, C. C.; ZALUPS, R. K. The aging kidney and the nephrotoxic effects of mercury. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev, v. 20, n. 2, p. 55-80, 2017.

BRIDGES, K. N. et al. Alterations to the Intestinal Microbiome and Metabolome of Pimephales promelas and Mus musculus Following Exposure to Dietary Methylmercury. Environ Sci Technol, v. 52, n. 15, p. 8774-8784, Aug 7 2018.

BROWN L. et al. Functional foods as potential therapeutic options for metabolic syndrome. Obesity reviews. 2015.

BUDNIK, L. T. et al. Alternative drugs go global: possible lead and/ or mercury intoxication from imported natural health products and a need for scientifically evaluated poisoning monitoring from environmental exposures. J Occup Med Toxicol, v. 11, p. 49, 2016.

BUDNIK, L. T.; CASTELEYN, L. Mercury pollution in modern times and its socio-medical consequences. Sci Total Environ, Nov 2 2018.

CAMPOS ZANI S. C., et al. Egg and soy-derived peptides and hydrolysates: A review of their physiological actions against diabetes and obesity. Nutrients. 2018.

CARICCIO, V. L. et al. Mercury Involvement in Neuronal Damage and in Neurodegenerative Diseases. Biol Trace Elem Res, v. 187, n. 2, p. 341-356, Feb 2019.

CARRICIO V. L. et al. Mercury Involvement in Neuronal Damage and in Neurodegenerative Diseases Biological Trace Element Research. May 2018.

CHOWDHURY, R. et al. Environmental toxic metal contaminants and risk of cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj, v. 362, p. k3310, Aug 29 2018.

CLARKSON, T. W. The three modern faces of mercury. Environ Health Perspect. 110(Suppl1):11-23, 2002.

COHEN, J. P. et al. Plasma and urine dimercaptopropanesulfonate concentrations after dermal application of transdermal DMPS (TD-DMPS). J Med Toxicol, v. 9, n. 1, p. 9-15, Mar 2013.

DA CUNHA, V. et al. Effects of mercury on the isolated perfused rat tail vascular bed are endothelium-dependent. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol, v. 39, n. 1, p. 124-30, Jul 2000.

DAVALOS, A. et al. Antioxidant activity of peptides derived from egg white proteins by enzymatic hydrolysis. J Food Prot, v. 67, n. 9, p. 1939-44, Sep 2004.

DE PAIVA, E. L.; MORGANO, M. A.; MILANI, R. F. Cadmium, lead, tin, total mercury, and methylmercury in canned tuna commercialised in Sao Paulo, Brazil. Food Addit Contam Part B Surveill, v. 10, n. 3, p. 185-191, Sep 2017.

DI MARZIO, A. et al. Mercury in the feathers of bird scavengers from two areas of Patagonia (Argentina) under the influence of different anthropogenic activities: a preliminary study. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, v. 25, n. 14, p. 13906-13915, May 2018.

DONG, A. et al. The distribution and accumulation of mercury and methylmercury in surface sediments beneath the East China Sea. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, Dec 18 2018.

DOREA, J. G. Abating Mercury Exposure in Young Children Should Include Thimerosal-Free Vaccines. Neurochem Res, v. 42, n. 10, p. 2673-2685, Oct 2017.

DOREA, J. G.; MARQUES, R. C. Mercury levels and human health in the Amazon Basin. Ann Hum Biol, v. 43, n. 4, p. 349-59, Jul 2016.

DU, K. et al. Satiety and memory enhancing effects of a high-protein meal depend on the source of protein. Nutr Neurosci, v. 21, n. 4, p. 257-267, May 2018.
ECKERT, E. et al. Egg-yolk protein by-product as a source of ACE-inhibitory peptides obtained with using unconventional proteinase from Asian pumpkin (Cucurbita ficifolia). J Proteomics, v. 110, p. 107-16, Oct 14 2014.

FENG, J. et al. Alteration of Gene Expression Profile in Kidney of Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats Treated with Protein Hydrolysate of Blue Mussel (Mytilus edulis) by DNA Microarray Analysis. PlosOne. 10(10):e0142016, 2015.

FUJITA, H. et al. Isolation and characterization of ovokinin, a bradykinin B1 agonist peptide derived from ovalbumin. Peptides, v. 16, n. 5, p. 785-90, 1995.

FURIERI, L. B. et al. Exposure to low mercury concentration in vivo impairs myocardial contractile function. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, v. 255, n. 2, p. 193-9, Sep 1 2011.

GARCES-RIMON, M. et al. Pepsin Egg White Hydrolysate Ameliorates Obesity-Related Oxidative Stress, Inflammation and Steatosis in Zucker Fatty Rats. PlosOne, 2016.

GENCHI, G. et al. Mercury Exposure and Heart Diseases. Int J Environ Res Public Health, v. 14, n. 1, Jan 12 2017.

GHIZONI, H. et al. Superoxide anion generation and oxidative stress in methylmercuryinduced endothelial toxicity in vitro. Toxicol In Vitro, v. 38, p. 19-26, Feb 2017.

GIBB, H.; O'LEARY, K. G. Mercury exposure and health impacts among individuals in the artisanal and small-scale gold mining community: a comprehensive review. Environ Health Perspect, v. 122, n. 7, p. 667-72, Jul 2014.

GUHA MAZUMDER, D. N. et al. Randomized placebo-controlled trial of 2,3-dimercapto-1propanesulfonate (DMPS) in therapy of chronic arsenicosis due to drinking arseniccontaminated water. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol, v. 39, n. 7, p. 665-74, 2001. HA, E. et al. Current progress on understanding the impact of mercury on human health. Environ Res, v. 152, p. 419-433, Jan 2017.

HAJRA, B. et al. EVALUATION OF TOXIC HEAVY METALS IN AYURVEDIC SYRUPS SOLD IN LOCAL MARKETS OF HAZARA, PAKISTAN. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad, v. 27, n. 1, p. 183-6, Jan-Mar 2015.

HALL, John Edward; GUYTON, Arthur C. Guyton & Hall tratado de fisiologia médica. 13. ed. Rio de Janeiro: Elsevier, 2017.

HAZELHOFF, M. H. et al. Renal expression of organic anion transporters is modified after mercuric chloride exposure: Gender-related differences. Toxicol Lett, v. 295, p. 390-396, Oct 1 2018.

HOUSTON, M. C. The role of mercury and cadmium heavy metals in vascular disease, hypertension, coronary heart disease, and myocardial infarction. Altern Ther Health Med, v. 13, n. 2, p. S128-33, Mar-Apr 2007.

HUANG, Z. S. et al. Simultaneous mercury oxidation and NO reduction in a membrane biofilm reactor. Sci Total Environ, v. 658, p. 1465-1474, Mar 25 2018.

IWAI-SHIMADA, M. et al. Methylmercury induces the expression of TNF-alpha selectively in the brain of mice. Sci Rep, v. 6, p. 38294, Dec 2 2016.

JACKSON, L. W. et al. The association between cadmium, lead and mercury blood levels and reproductive hormones among healthy, premenopausal women. Hum Reprod, v. 26, n. 10, p. 2887-95, Oct 2011. KHAN, M. F.; WANG, G. Environmental Agents, Oxidative Stress and Autoimmunity. Curr Opin Toxicol, v. 7, p. 22-27, Feb 2018.

KIM, W. et al. Antioxidant effects of Dendropanax morbifera Leveille extract in the hippocampus of mercury-exposed rats. BMC Complement Altern Med, v. 15, p. 247, Jul 23 2015.

KIMAKOVA, T. et al. Fish and fish products as risk factors of mercury exposure. Ann Agric Environ Med, v. 25, n. 3, p. 488-493, Sep 25 2018.

LEE, C. S.; FISHER, N. S. Bioaccumulation of methylmercury in a marine copepod. Environ Toxicol Chem, v. 36, n. 5, p. 1287-1293, May 2017.

LI, W. C.; TSE, H. F. Health risk and significance of mercury in the environment. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, v. 22, n. 1, p. 192-201, Jan 2015.

LI, W. C.; TSE, H. F. Health risk and significance of mercury in the environment. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, v. 22, n. 1, p. 192-201, Jan 2015.

LI, W. C.; TSE, H. F. Health risk and significance of mercury in the environment. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int, v. 22, n. 1, p. 192-201, Jan 2015.

LI, X. X.; HAN, L. J.; CHEN, L. J. In vitro antioxidant activity of protein hydrolysates prepared from corn gluten meal. J Sci Food Agric. 2008.

LIANG, J. et al. Atmospheric deposition of mercury and cadmium impacts on topsoil in a typical coal mine city, Lianyuan, China. Chemosphere, v. 189, p. 198-205, Dec 2017.

LIAO W. et al. Egg white-derived antihypertensive peptide IRW (Ile-Arg-Trp) inhibits Ang II-stimulated migration of vascular smooth muscle cells via angiotensin type I receptor. Mai 2017.

LIU, J.; CHEN, Z.; HE, J.; ZHANG, Y.; ZHANG, T.; JIANG, Y. Anti-oxidative and antiapoptosis effects of egg white peptide, Trp-Asn-Trp-Ala-Asp, against H2O2- induced oxidative stress in human embryonic kidney 293 cells. Food Funct. 5(12):3179-88, 2014.

LIU, J.; et al. Anti-oxidative and anti-apoptosis effects of egg white peptide, Trp-Asn-Trp-Ala-Asp, against H2O2- induced oxidative stress in human embryonic kidney 293 cells. Food Funct. 5(12):3179-88, 2014.

LIU, Y. F. et al. Bioactive peptides derived from egg proteins: A review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr, v. 58, n. 15, p. 2508-2530, 2018.

MAGOS, L.; CLARKSON, T. W. The assessment of the contribution of hair to methyl mercury excretion. Toxicol Lett, v. 182, n. 1-3, p. 48-9, Nov 10 2008.

MAJUMDER, K. et al. Egg ovotransferrin-derived ACE inhibitory peptide IRW increases ACE2 but decreases proinflammatory genes expression in mesenteric artery of spontaneously hypertensive rats. Mol Nutr Food Res, v. 59, n. 9, p. 1735-44, Sep 2015.

MAJUMDER, K.; CHAKRABARTI, S.; MORTON, J. S. Egg-derived tri-peptide IRW exerts antihypertensive effects in spontaneously hypertensive rats. PlosOne. 8(11):e82829, 2013.

MARTINEZ, C. S. et al. 60-Day chronic exposure to low concentrations of HgCl2 impairs sperm quality: hormonal imbalance and oxidative stress as potential routes for reproductive dysfunction in rats. PLoS One, v. 9, n. 11, p. e111202, 2014.

MARTINEZ, C. S. et al. Chronic exposure to low doses of mercury impairs sperm quality and induces oxidative stress in rats. J Toxicol Environ Health A, v. 77, n. 1-3, p. 143-54, 2014.

MELELEO D. et al. Concentration- dependent effects of mercury and lead on A β 42: possible implications for Alzheimer's disease. European Biophysics Journal, Dez 2018.

MELELEO, D. et al. Concentration-dependent effects of mercury and lead on Abeta42: possible implications for Alzheimer's disease. Eur Biophys J, Jan 2 2019.

MELLO-CARPES, P. B. et al. Chronic exposure to low mercury chloride concentration induces object recognition and aversive memories deficits in rats. Int J Dev Neurosci, v. 31, n. 7, p. 468-72, Nov 2013.

MERGLER, D. et al. Methylmercury exposure and health effects in humans: a worldwide concern. Ambio, v. 36, n. 1, p. 3-11, Feb 2007.

MIGUEL, M. et al. R. Angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitory activity of peptides derived from egg white proteins by enzymatic hydrolysis. J. Food Prot. 67:1914-20, 2004.

MITRA, A.; MITTAL, A. K.; RAO, C. P. Carbohydrate assisted fluorescence turn-on glucoimino-anthracenyl conjugate as a Hg(II) sensor in milk and blood serum milieu. Chem Commun (Camb), v. 47, n. 9, p. 2565-7, Mar 7 2011.

MOUGHAN, P. J.; RAVINDRAN, V.; SORBARA, J. O. Dietary protein and amino acidsconsideration of the undigestible fraction. Poult Sci, v. 93, n. 9, p. 2400-10, Sep 2014.

MOURE, A.; DOMINGUEZ, H.; PARAJO, J. C. Antioxidant properties of ultrafiltrationrecovered soy protein fractions from industrial effluents and their hydrolysates. Process Biochem. 41:447-56, 2006.

NIMALARATNE, C.; BANDARA, N.; WU, J. Purification and characterization of antioxidant peptides from enzymatically hydrolyzed chicken egg white. Food Chem, v. 188, p. 467-72, Dec 1 2015.

ORR, S. E. et al. Potential mechanisms of cellular injury following exposure to a physiologically relevant species of inorganic mercury. Toxicol Lett, v. 304, p. 13-20, Apr 2019.

ØVERJORDET, I.B. Acute and sub-lethal response to mercury in Arctic and borealcalanoid copepods. Aquatic Toxicology V.155 160–165 Jun 2014.

OZUAH, P. O. Mercury poisoning. Curr. Probl. Pediatr. 30, 91, 2000.

PAMPHLETT, R. et al. Age-related accumulation of toxic metals in the human locus ceruleus. PLoS One, v. 13, n. 9, p. e0203627, 2018.

PEÇANHA, F. M. et al. The role of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 derived prostanoids on vasoconstrictor responses to phenylephrine is increased by exposure to low mercury concentration. J Physiol Pharmacol. 61(1):29-36, 2010.

PEI, D. et al. Bioconcentration factors and potential human health risks of heavy metals in cultivated Lentinus edodes in Chengdu, People's Republic of China. J Food Prot, v. 78, n. 2, p. 390-5, Feb 2015.

PESTANA, I. A. et al. The impact of hydroelectric dams on mercury dynamics in South America: A review. Chemosphere, v. 219, p. 546-556, Mar 2019.

QIAN, Z. J.; JUNG, W. K.; KIM, S. K. Free radical scavenging activity of a novel antioxidative peptide purified from hydrolysate of bullfrog skin, Rana catesbeiana Shaw. Bioresour Technol. 99:1690-8, 2008

QIAN, Z. J.; JUNG, W. K.; KIM, S. K. Free radical scavenging activity of a novel antioxidative peptide purified from hydrolysate of bullfrog skin, Rana catesbeiana Shaw. Bioresour Technol. 99:1690-8, 2008.

RAJAPAKSE, N. et al. Purification of a radical scavenging peptide from fermented mussel sauce and its antioxidant properties. Food Res Int. 38:175-82, 2005.

RAO, S. et al. ACE inhibitory peptides and antioxidant peptides derived from in vitro digestion hydrolysate of hen egg white lysozyme. Food Chem. 2012.

REHMAN, K. et al. Prevalence of exposure of heavy metals and their impact on health consequences. J Cell Biochem, v. 119, n. 1, p. 157-184, Jan 2018.

REQUENA, T. et al. Pepsin egg white hydrolysate modulates gut microbiota in Zucker obese rats. Food Funct, v. 8, n. 1, p. 437-443, Jan 25 2017.

REVILLA, C. et al. Different pathways to acquiring resistance genes illustrated by the recent evolution of IncW plasmids. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, v. 52, n. 4, p. 1472-80, Apr 2008.

RITGER, A. L.; CURTIS, A. N.; CHEN, C. Y. Bioaccumulation of mercury and other metal contaminants in invasive lionfish (Pterois volitans/miles) from Curacao. Mar Pollut Bull, v. 131, n. Pt A, p. 38-44, Jun 2018.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. Ameliorative effects of egg white hydrolysate on recognition memory impairments associated with chronic exposure to low mercury concentration. Neurochem Int, v. 101, p. 30-37, Dec 2016b.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. Apocynin prevents vascular effects caused by chronic exposure to low concentrations of mercury. PLoS One, v. 8, n. 2, p. e55806, 2013.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. Egg white hydrolysate promotes neuroprotection for neuropathic disorders induced by chronic exposure to low concentrations of mercury. Brain Res, v. 1646, p. 482-489, Sep 1 2016a.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. Egg white-derived peptides prevent cardiovascular disorders induced by mercury in rats: Role of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) and NADPH oxidase. Toxicol Lett, v. 281, p. 158-174, Nov 5 2017b.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. Egg white-derived peptides prevent male reproductive dysfunction induced by mercury in rats. Food Chem Toxicol, v. 100, p. 253-264, Feb 2016b.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. Impact of continuous positive airway pressure on the pulmonary changes promoted by immersion in water. J Bras Pneumol, v. 43, n. 6, p. 409-415, Nov-Dec 2017c.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. Mercury-induced vascular dysfunction is mediated by angiotensin II AT-1 receptor upregulation. Environ Res, v. 162, p. 287-296, Apr 2018.

RIZZETTI, D. A. et al. The cessation of the long-term exposure to low doses of mercury ameliorates the increase in systolic blood pressure and vascular damage in rats. Environ Res, v. 155, p. 182-192, May 2017a.

ROSSONI, L. V. et al. Effects of mercury on the arterial blood pressure of anesthetized rats. Braz J Med Biol Res, v. 32, n. 8, p. 989-97, Aug 1999.

ROY, C. et al. Is mercury exposure causing diabetes, metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance? A systematic review of the literature. Environmental Research, Abr 2017.

SALGADO, P. E. T. Metais em alimentos. In: OGA, S. Fundamentos de toxicologia. São Paulo, Atheneu Ed., Cap. 5, p. 405-26, 2003.

SALONEN, J. T. et al. Mercury accumulation and accelerated progression of carotid atherosclerosis: a population-based prospective 4-year follow-up study in men in eastern Finland. Atherosclerosis, v. 148, n. 2, p. 265-73, Feb 2000.

SCHREIER, H. M. et al. Mercury and psychosocial stress exposure interact to predict maternal diurnal cortisol during pregnancy. Environ Health, v. 14, p. 28, Mar 27 2015.

SEARS, M. E. Chelation: harnessing and enhancing heavy metal detoxification--a review. Scientific World Journal. 2013:219840, 2013.

SENER, G. et al. Ginkgo biloba extract protects against mercury(II)-induced oxidative tissue damage in rats. Food Chem Toxicol, v. 45, n. 4, p. 543-50, Apr 2007.

SOLENKOVA, N. V. et al. Metal pollutants and cardiovascular disease: mechanisms and consequences of exposure. Am Heart J, v. 168, n. 6, p. 812-22, Dec 2014.

SRIVIDYA, D. et al. Expression of kit ligand and insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 during in vivo or in vitro development of ovarian follicles in sheep. Reprod Domest Anim, v. 52, n. 4, p. 661-671, Aug 2017.

SUN, X. et al. Low-molecular-weight fractions of Alcalase hydrolyzed egg ovomucin extract exert anti-inflammatory activity in human dermal fibroblasts through the inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-mediated nuclear factor kappaB pathway. Nutr Res, v. 36, n. 7, p. 648-57, Jul 2016.

SUN, X. et al. Low-molecular-weight fractions of Alcalase hydrolyzed egg ovomucin extract exert anti-inflammatory activity in human dermal fibroblasts through the inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-mediated nuclear factor kappaB pathway. Nutr Res, v. 36, n. 7, p. 648-57, Jul 2016.

TELAHIGUE, K. et al. Mercury disrupts redox status, up-regulates metallothionein and induces genotoxicity in respiratory tree of sea cucumber (Holothuria forskali). Drug Chem Toxicol, p. 1-11, Dec 17 2018.

USEPA – UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY. Mercury health effects. Washington, 1998. (EPA 600/8-84-019F).

VASSALLO, D. V. et al. Effects of Chronic Exposure to Mercury on Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Activity and Oxidative Stress in Normotensive and Hypertensive Rats. Arq Bras Cardiol, Jan 7 2019.

VASSALLO, D. V. et al. Endothelium:a target for harmful actions of metals. Curr Hypertens Rev, Jan 15 2019.

VASSALLO, D. V. et al. Toxic effects of mercury, lead and gadolinium on vascular reactivity. Braz J Med Biol Res, v. 44, n. 9, p. 939-46, Sep 2011.

WANG, C.; WANG, C.; LI, B.; LI, H. Zn(II) chelating with peptides found in sesame protein hydrolysates: identification of the binding sites of complexes. Food Chem. 165:594-602, 2014

WANG, X. et al. From the Cover: Identification of Natural Products as Inhibitors of Human Organic Anion Transporters (OAT1 and OAT3) and Their Protective Effect on Mercury-Induced Toxicity. Toxicol Sci, v. 161, n. 2, p. 321-334, Feb 1 2018.

WHO - World Health Organization. Methylmercury. Environmental Health Criteria. International Program on Chemical Safety. 101-44, 1990.

WIGGERS, G. A. et al. Cerebrovascular endothelial dysfunction induced by mercury exposure at low concentrations. Neurotoxicology, v. 53, p. 282-289, Mar 2016.

WIGGERS, G. A. et al. Low mercury concentrations cause oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction in conductance and resistance arteries. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, v. 295, n. 3, p. H1033-h1043, Sep 2008.

XIE, Z.; HUANG, J.; XU, X.; JIN, Z. Antioxidant activity of peptides isolated from alfalfa leaf protein hydrolysate. Food Chem. 111:370-6, 2008.

YU, Z. et al. Characterization of ACE-inhibitory peptide associated with antioxidant and anticoagulation properties. J Food Sci, v. 76, n. 8, p. C1149-55, Oct 2011.

ZALUPS, R. K. Molecular interactions with mercury in the kidney. Pharmacol Rev, v. 52, n. 1, p. 113-43, Mar 2000.

Abarikwu, S.O., Benjamin, S., Ebah, S.G., Obilor, G., Agbam, G., 2017. Oral administration of Moringa oleifera oil but not coconut oil prevents mercury-induced testicular toxicity in rats. Andrologia 49.

Andersen, O., Aaseth, J., 2016. A review of pitfalls and progress in chelation treatment of metal poisonings. Journal of trace elements in medicine and biology : organ of the Society for Minerals and Trace Elements (GMS) 38, 74-80.

Andrews, L., Wang, X., 2002. Infrared spectrum of the novel electron-deficient BH(4) radical in solid neon. Journal of the American Chemical Society 124, 7280-7281.

Antoniades, C., Shirodaria, C., Warrick, N., Cai, S., de Bono, J., Lee, J., Leeson, P., Neubauer, S., Ratnatunga, C., Pillai, R., Refsum, H., Channon, K.M., 2006. 5methyltetrahydrofolate rapidly improves endothelial function and decreases superoxide production in human vessels: effects on vascular tetrahydrobiopterin availability and endothelial nitric oxide synthase coupling. Circulation 114, 1193-1201.

Avendano, M.S., Lucas, E., Jurado-Pueyo, M., Martinez-Revelles, S., Vila-Bedmar, R., Mayor, F., Jr., Salaices, M., Briones, A.M., Murga, C., 2014. Increased nitric oxide bioavailability in adult GRK2 hemizygous mice protects against angiotensin II-induced hypertension. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex. : 1979) 63, 369-375.

Benzie, I.F., Strain, J.J., 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. Analytical biochemistry 239, 70-76.

Botelho, T., Marques, V.B., Simoes, M.R., do Val Lima, P.R., Simoes, F.V., Vassallo, D.V., Dos Santos, L., 2019. Impaired participation of potassium channels and Na(+)/K(+)-ATPase in vasodilatation due to reduced nitric oxide bioavailability in rats exposed to mercury. Basic & clinical pharmacology & toxicology 124, 190-198.

Bunag, R.D., 1973. Validation in awake rats of a tail-cuff method for measuring systolic pressure. Journal of applied physiology 34, 279-282.

Chen, Q., Kim, E.E., Elio, K., Zambrano, C., Krass, S., Teng, J.C., Kay, H., Perkins, K.A., Pershad, S., McGraw, S., Emrich, J., Adams, J.S., Young, L.H., 2010. The role of tetrahydrobiopterin and dihydrobiopterin in ischemia/reperfusion injury when given at reperfusion. Advances in pharmacological sciences 2010, 963914.

Clarkson, T.W., Magos, L., 2006. The toxicology of mercury and its chemical compounds. Critical reviews in toxicology 36, 609-662. Clarkson, T.W., Magos, L., 2006. The toxicology of mercury and its chemical compounds. Critical reviews in toxicology 36, 609-662.

Davalos, A., Miguel, M., Bartolome, B., Lopez-Fandino, R., 2004. Antioxidant activity of peptides derived from egg white proteins by enzymatic hydrolysis. Journal of food protection 67, 1939-1944.

de Marco, K.C., Antunes, L.M., Tanus-Santos, J.E., Barbosa, F., Jr., 2012. Intron 4 polymorphism of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) gene is associated with decreased NO production in a mercury-exposed population. The Science of the total environment 414, 708-712.

Dumitrescu, C., Biondi, R., Xia, Y., Cardounel, A.J., Druhan, L.J., Ambrosio, G., Zweier, J.L., 2007. Myocardial ischemia results in tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4) oxidation with impaired endothelial function ameliorated by BH4. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 15081-15086.

Faria, T.O., Simoes, M.R., Vassallo, D.V., Forechi, L., Almenara, C.C.P., Marchezini, B.A.,
Stefanon, I., Vassallo, P.F., 2018. Xanthine Oxidase Activation Modulates the Endothelial
(Vascular) Dysfunction Related to HgCl2 Exposure Plus Myocardial Infarction in Rats.
Cardiovascular toxicology 18, 161-174.

Furieri, L.B., Fioresi, M., Junior, R.F., Bartolome, M.V., Fernandes, A.A., Cachofeiro, V., Lahera, V., Salaices, M., Stefanon, I., Vassallo, D.V., 2011. Exposure to low mercury concentration in vivo impairs myocardial contractile function. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 255, 193-199.

Garces-Rimon, M., Gonzalez, C., Uranga, J.A., Lopez-Miranda, V., Lopez-Fandino, R., Miguel, M., 2016. Pepsin Egg White Hydrolysate Ameliorates Obesity-Related Oxidative Stress, Inflammation and Steatosis in Zucker Fatty Rats. PloS one 11, e0151193.

Garcia-Redondo, A.B., Roque, F.R., Miguel, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., Salaices, M., 2010. Vascular effects of egg white-derived peptides in resistance arteries from rats. Structureactivity relationships. Journal of the science of food and agriculture 90, 1988-1993.

Hirota, T., Nonaka, A., Matsushita, A., Uchida, N., Ohki, K., Asakura, M., Kitakaze, M., 2011. Milk casein-derived tripeptides, VPP and IPP induced NO production in cultured

endothelial cells and endothelium-dependent relaxation of isolated aortic rings. Heart and vessels 26, 549-556.

Houston, M.C., 2007. The role of mercury and cadmium heavy metals in vascular disease, hypertension, coronary heart disease, and myocardial infarction. Alternative therapies in health and medicine 13, S128-133.

Huang, Z.S., Wei, Z.S., Xiao, X.L., Tang, M.R., Li, B.L., Zhang, X., 2019. Simultaneous mercury oxidation and NO reduction in a membrane biofilm reactor. The Science of the total environment 658, 1465-1474.

Jahandideh, F., Chakrabarti, S., Davidge, S.T., Wu, J., 2017. Egg white hydrolysate shows insulin mimetic and sensitizing effects in 3T3-F442A pre-adipocytes. PloS one 12, e0185653.

Kamoun, Z., Kamoun, A.S., Bougatef, A., Kharrat, R.M., Youssfi, H., Boudawara, T., Chakroun, M., Nasri, M., Zeghal, N., 2017. Hepatoprotective and nephroprotective effects of sardinelle (Sardinella aurita) protein hydrolysate against ethanol-induced oxidative stress in rats. Environmental science and pollution research international 24, 1432-1441.

Kuzkaya, N., Weissmann, N., Harrison, D.G., Dikalov, S., 2003. Interactions of peroxynitrite, tetrahydrobiopterin, ascorbic acid, and thiols: implications for uncoupling endothelial nitric-oxide synthase. The Journal of biological chemistry 278, 22546-22554.

Liao, W., Bhullar, K.S., Chakrabarti, S., Davidge, S.T., Wu, J., 2018. Egg White-Derived Tripeptide IRW (Ile-Arg-Trp) Is an Activator of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme 2. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry 66, 11330-11336.

Magder, S., 2018. The meaning of blood pressure. Critical care (London, England) 22, 257.

Mahboob, M., Shireen, K.F., Atkinson, A., Khan, A.T., 2001. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activity in different organs of mice exposed to low level of mercury. Journal of environmental science and health. Part. B, Pesticides, food contaminants, and agricultural wastes 36, 687-697.

Martin, A., Perez-Giron, J.V., Hernanz, R., Palacios, R., Briones, A.M., Fortuno, A., Zalba, G., Salaices, M., Alonso, M.J., 2012. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma

activation reduces cyclooxygenase-2 expression in vascular smooth muscle cells from hypertensive rats by interfering with oxidative stress. Journal of hypertension 30, 315-326.

Martinez, C.S., Escobar, A.G., Torres, J.G., Brum, D.S., Santos, F.W., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., Vassallo, D.V., Pecanha, F.M., Leivas, F.G., Wiggers, G.A., 2014. Chronic exposure to low doses of mercury impairs sperm quality and induces oxidative stress in rats. Journal of toxicology and environmental health. Part A 77, 143-154.

Mello-Carpes, P.B., Barros, W., Borges, S., Alves, N., Rizzetti, D., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Wiggers, G.A., Izquierdo, I., 2013. Chronic exposure to low mercury chloride concentration induces object recognition and aversive memories deficits in rats. International journal of developmental neuroscience : the official journal of the International Society for Developmental Neuroscience 31, 468-472.

Meram, C., Wu, J., 2017. Anti-inflammatory effects of egg yolk livetins (alpha, beta, and gamma-livetin) fraction and its enzymatic hydrolysates in lipopolysaccharide-induced RAW 264.7 macrophages. Food research international (Ottawa, Ont.) 100, 449-459.

Miguel, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., Ramos, M., Aleixandre, A., 2005. Short-term effect of eggwhite hydrolysate products on the arterial blood pressure of hypertensive rats. The British journal of nutrition 94, 731-737.

Miguel, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., Ramos, M., Aleixandre, A., 2006. Long-term intake of egg white hydrolysate attenuates the development of hypertension in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Life sciences 78, 2960-2966.

Miguel, M., Manso, M., Aleixandre, A., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., 2007. Vascular effects, angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE)-inhibitory activity, and antihypertensive properties of peptides derived from egg white. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry 55, 10615-10621.

Miguel, M., Recio, I., Gomez-Ruiz, J.A., Ramos, M., Lopez-Fandino, R., 2004. Angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitory activity of peptides derived from egg white proteins by enzymatic hydrolysis. Journal of food protection 67, 1914-1920.

Miner-Williams, W.M., Stevens, B.R., Moughan, P.J., 2014. Are intact peptides absorbed from the healthy gut in the adult human? Nutrition research reviews 27, 308-329.

Moreno-Fernandez, S., Garces-Rimon, M., Gonzalez, C., Uranga, J.A., Lopez-Miranda, V., Vera, G., Miguel, M., 2018a. Pepsin egg white hydrolysate ameliorates metabolic syndrome in high-fat/high-dextrose fed rats. Food & function 9, 78-86.

Moreno-Fernandez, S., Garces-Rimon, M., Uranga, J.A., Astier, J., Landrier, J.F., Miguel, M., 2018b. Expression enhancement in brown adipose tissue of genes related to thermogenesis and mitochondrial dynamics after administration of pepsin egg white hydrolysate. Food & function 9, 6599-6607.

Mulvany, M.J., Halpern, W., 1977. Contractile properties of small arterial resistance vessels in spontaneously hypertensive and normotensive rats. Circulation research 41, 19-26.

Murakami, A., Ohigashi, H., 2007. Targeting NOX, INOS and COX-2 in inflammatory cells: chemoprevention using food phytochemicals. International journal of cancer 121, 2357-2363.

Nyvad, J., Mazur, A., Postnov, D.D., Straarup, M.S., Soendergaard, A.M., Staehr, C., Brondum, E., Aalkjaer, C., Matchkov, V.V., 2017. Intravital investigation of rat mesenteric small artery tone and blood flow. The Journal of physiology 595, 5037-5053.

Ohkawa, H., Ohishi, N., Yagi, K., 1979. Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Analytical biochemistry 95, 351-358.

Park, H.J., Youn, H.S., 2013. Mercury induces the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 and inducible nitric oxide synthase. Toxicology and industrial health 29, 169-174.

Pecanha, F.M., Wiggers, G.A., Briones, A.M., Perez-Giron, J.V., Miguel, M., Garcia-Redondo, A.B., Vassallo, D.V., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., 2010. The role of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 derived prostanoids on vasoconstrictor responses to phenylephrine is increased by exposure to low mercury concentration. Journal of physiology and pharmacology : an official journal of the Polish Physiological Society 61, 29-36.

Requena, T., Miguel, M., Garces-Rimon, M., Martinez-Cuesta, M.C., Lopez-Fandino, R., Pelaez, C., 2017. Pepsin egg white hydrolysate modulates gut microbiota in Zucker obese rats. Food & function 8, 437-443.

Rizzetti, D.A., Altermann, C.D., Martinez, C.S., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Uranga-Ocio, J.A., Castro, M.M., Wiggers, G.A., Mello-Carpes, P.B., 2016a. Ameliorative effects of egg

white hydrolysate on recognition memory impairments associated with chronic exposure to low mercury concentration. Neurochemistry international 101, 30-37.

Rizzetti, D.A., Fernandez, F., Moreno, S., Uranga Ocio, J.A., Pecanha, F.M., Vera, G., Vassallo, D.V., Castro, M.M., Wiggers, G.A., 2016b. Egg white hydrolysate promotes neuroprotection for neuropathic disorders induced by chronic exposure to low concentrations of mercury. Brain research 1646, 482-489.

Rizzetti, D.A., Martin, A., Corrales, P., Fernandez, F., Simoes, M.R., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Miguel, M., Wiggers, G.A., 2017a. Egg white-derived peptides prevent cardiovascular disorders induced by mercury in rats: Role of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) and NADPH oxidase. Toxicology letters 281, 158-174.

Rizzetti, D.A., Martinez, C.S., Escobar, A.G., da Silva, T.M., Uranga-Ocio, J.A., Pecanha, F.M., Vassallo, D.V., Castro, M.M., Wiggers, G.A., 2017b. Egg white-derived peptides prevent male reproductive dysfunction induced by mercury in rats. Food and chemical toxicology : an international journal published for the British Industrial Biological Research Association 100, 253-264.

Rizzetti, D.A., Torres, J.G., Escobar, A.G., da Silva, T.M., Moraes, P.Z., Hernanz, R., Pecanha, F.M., Castro, M.M., Vassallo, D.V., Salaices, M., Alonso, M.J., Wiggers, G.A., 2017c. The cessation of the long-term exposure to low doses of mercury ameliorates the increase in systolic blood pressure and vascular damage in rats. Environmental research 155, 182-192.

Rizzetti, D.A., Torres, J.G., Escobar, A.G., Pecanha, F.M., Santos, F.W., Puntel, R.L., Alonso, M.J., Briones, A.M., Salaices, M., Vassallo, D.V., Wiggers, G.A., 2013. Apocynin prevents vascular effects caused by chronic exposure to low concentrations of mercury. PloS one 8, e55806.

Salonen, J.T., Seppanen, K., Lakka, T.A., Salonen, R., Kaplan, G.A., 2000. Mercury accumulation and accelerated progression of carotid atherosclerosis: a population-based prospective 4-year follow-up study in men in eastern Finland. Atherosclerosis 148, 265-273.

Shabeeh, H., Khan, S., Jiang, B., Brett, S., Melikian, N., Casadei, B., Chowienczyk, P.J., Shah, A.M., 2017. Blood Pressure in Healthy Humans Is Regulated by Neuronal NO Synthase. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex. : 1979) 69, 970-976.

Turini, M.E., DuBois, R.N., 2002. Cyclooxygenase-2: a therapeutic target. Annual review of medicine 53, 35-57.

Udenigwe, C.C., Je, J.Y., Cho, Y.S., Yada, R.Y., 2013. Almond protein hydrolysate fraction modulates the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and enzymes in activated macrophages. Food & function 4, 777-783.

Varadharaj, S., Porter, K., Pleister, A., Wannemacher, J., Sow, A., Jarjoura, D., Zweier, J.L., Khayat, R.N., 2015. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase uncoupling: a novel pathway in OSA induced vascular endothelial dysfunction. Respiratory physiology & neurobiology 207, 40-47.

Vasquez-Vivar, J., Kalyanaraman, B., Martasek, P., Hogg, N., Masters, B.S., Karoui, H., Tordo, P., Pritchard, K.A., Jr., 1998. Superoxide generation by endothelial nitric oxide synthase: the influence of cofactors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 95, 9220-9225.

Vassallo, D.V., Moreira, C.M., Oliveira, E.M., Bertollo, D.M., Veloso, T.C., 1999. Effects of mercury on the isolated heart muscle are prevented by DTT and cysteine. Toxicology and applied pharmacology 156, 113-118.

Vassallo, D.V., Simoes, M.R., Furieri, L.B., Fioresi, M., Fiorim, J., Almeida, E.A., Angeli, J.K., Wiggers, G.A., Pecanha, F.M., Salaices, M., 2011. Toxic effects of mercury, lead and gadolinium on vascular reactivity. Brazilian journal of medical and biological research = Revista brasileira de pesquisas medicas e biologicas 44, 939-946.

Virtanen, J.K., Rissanen, T.H., Voutilainen, S., Tuomainen, T.P., 2007. Mercury as a risk factor for cardiovascular diseases. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry 18, 75-85.

Wakai, T., Yamaguchi, N., Hatanaka, M., Nakamura, Y., Yamamoto, N., 2012. Repressive processing of antihypertensive peptides, Val-Pro-Pro and Ile-Pro-Pro, in Lactobacillus helveticus fermented milk by added peptides. Journal of bioscience and bioengineering 114, 133-137.

Wiggers, G.A., Pecanha, F.M., Briones, A.M., Perez-Giron, J.V., Miguel, M., Vassallo, D.V., Cachofeiro, V., Alonso, M.J., Salaices, M., 2008. Low mercury concentrations cause oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction in conductance and resistance arteries. American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology 295, H1033-h1043.

Yang, A., Ren, G., Tang, L., Jiang, W., 2009. [Effects of soy bean isoflavone on inhibition of benign prostatic hyperplasia and the expressions of NO and NOS of rats]. Wei sheng yan jiu = Journal of hygiene research 38, 172-174.

Yoshida, K., Tanaka, T., Kohno, H., Sakata, K., Kawamori, T., Mori, H., Wakabayashi, K., 2003. A COX-2 inhibitor, nimesulide, inhibits chemically-induced rat tongue carcinogenesis through suppression of cell proliferation activity and COX-2 and iNOS expression. Histology and histopathology 18, 39-48.

Zalups, R.K., 2000. Molecular interactions with mercury in the kidney. Pharmacological reviews 52, 113-143.